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INTRODUCTION

When | was growing up at the Charlotte Avenue con-
gregation in Nashville, it was impressed on me by elders
sending and missionaries being sent to East Tennessee that
East Tennessee was a great mission field which needed to be
evangelized. After having spent the past 37 years of my
preaching life more or less directly connected with East
Tennessee, even while in Africa keeping in touch by friends
and supporters, | can testify that it has grown into a strong
tower for the gospel. In fact, some of the finest churches
in Tennessee are to be found in this part of the State,
although churches are not as numerous as in West and
Middle Tennessee.

To my knowledge, there has never been published a
history of churches in this part of the State; therefore, |
am glad that John Waddey has taken the time and effort to
collect data from as many churches as possible to give us
this history.

John Waddey is a diligent student and fluent writer.
With the help of others who have given, at his request, the
information about churches in East Tennessee, it is fitting
that he should be the author of such a book. He has spent
most of his preaching life with one of the finest congrega-
tions in East Tennessee, the Karns Church of Knoxville,
home of East Tennessee School of Preaching and Missions.
He has been, and still is, the spark to keep the school mov-
ing. It has been my pleasure to work with him under direc-
tion of the elders at Karns in connection with this school.
| believe he is giving us his best effort to acquaint all with
the progress of the churches in this part of the Volunteer

State.
Bill Nicks



AUTHOR’'S PREFACE

Since he was a boy, the author of this book has had
a great interest in history. Upon becoming a Christian, his
interest in history expanded to include the history of the
Lord’s Church, both ancient and modern. Over the years,
he has eagerly gathered and read all the available materials
relating to the history of the American Restoration move-
ment.

Some twelve years ago, the idea for a book on the
history of the Restoration movement in East Tennessee
was formed. Over the years, materials were gathered and
filed away. With the coming of Tennessee’s Homecoming
‘86 celebration, State coordinators urged religious groups
to publish histories of their churches within the State.
Fellow preachers in the Knoxville area lent their encour-
agement and work began in earnest. A year has passed, and
the author is pleased to present his work to the reading
public. More time was needed for refining and interpreting
the materials gathered, but other duties could not be
neglected for that purpose. |t is hoped that the deficien-
cies will not detract in a serious way from the value of the
work.

It is the purpose of this volume to trace the develop-
ment of the Churches of Christ in East Tennessee from their
genesis at the beginning of the nineteenth century to the
present. The first half of the book is devoted to the history
of those congregations established prior to 1900. Along
with the congregational sketches are biographical sketches
of a number of gospel preachers of that century and miscel-
laneous chapters on the schools, programs, and problems
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of that era.

The second section of the book is devoted to what is
called the period of recovery. Having been virtually wiped
out in the doctrinal apostasy that resulted in the formation
of the Christian Church, Churches of Christ had a long,
difficult struggle to rebuild their cause in East Tennessee.
The bench marks of the Christian Church/Disciples of Christ
organization were instrumental music in the worship of the
church and the creation of a multitude of extra-Biblical
organizations to do the evangelistic work of the church.
This period of recovery covers the years from 1900-1950.
Strangely enough, it was World War |l that provided the
impetus to finally get the church back on the map in the
area. Government defense projects attracted thousands of
workers from other areas. Many of those who moved to the
region were members of the church. They brought their
faith and experience, their convictions, and their zeal with
them. Like seed in the wind, where they landed, congrega-
tions sprung up and began to flourish. They had contacts
in strong churches which they had left that provided the
financial assistance needed to launch the new works.

The third section surveys the present status of the
churches. It contains sketches of the existing congregations.
Each church in the region was invited to submit the factual
material of their group. The author then cast it in a uni-
form style. A few congregations did not respond although
numerous reminders were sent. Some had excellent and
full reports on their work; others had very little. This will
account for the variation in the length of the sketches.

The final section is an appendix which contains a
series of chapters devoted to the problems that adversely
affected us in the past. It is hoped that they will help the
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reader to more fully appreciate the causes that divided the
brotherhood and why our fathers took the stand they did.

This volume is sent forth with the prayer that modern
day Christians will read it, learn about, and appreciate those
noble saints who blazed the trail we now so easily tread.
Hopefully, we will learn from the mistakes of the past and
not repeat them. With God’s blessing, it can inspire us to
rekindle the fire that prompted Christians of old to work
with diligence and fight with courage to plant the cause of
Jesus in every community of this land. There is yet a vast
amount of work to be done before every soul in East
Tennessee has heard the call to go back to the Bible in all
things religious, before every community has a church in
its midst worshipping after the ancient order.

May we who are the Churches of Christ in East
Tennessee never forget who we are, our commitment to
go back to the Bible, our mission to preach the gospel to
every creature, and our duty to stand fast in the faith of
Jesus.
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THE GENERAL STATE OF RELIGION
IN NINETEENTH CENTURY EAST TENNESSEE

As the eighteenth century drew to a close America
was in a deep spiritual depression. The national census of
1790 shows that no more than five percent of the popula-
tion claimed church membership. Those who traveled into
the Southwest Territory, later known as Tennessee, were
shocked by the moral and spiritual degeneracy of the in-
habitants. ‘“One Tennessee minister reported finding his
entire congregation so drunk they could not listen to him;
another told of repeated encounters with ‘‘refugees from
justice; gambling; horse racing; fighting and other ‘popular
sins’ . .."”” Efforts to organize churches were hindered by
the scarcity of the scattered population in the vast regions
of mountains and valleys.

Many Tennesseans had absorbed the rationalistic;
anti-religious spirit of the age. Following the Revolution
the educated people of New England and the Seaboard
states were greatly influenced by the deism and skepticism
of the French Rationalists. Especially did an anti-clerical,
anti-established church mentality prevail since many of the
Anglican ministers had sympathized with the British. The
fallout of this antagonism was felt by other religious groups
as well. When the Tennessee Constitution was drafted in
1796, it specifically stated that, ‘‘no minister of the gospel
or priest’’ could be elected to a seat in the state legislature.



The first preachers to serve in the state were Presby-
terians. Charles Cummings, a Presbyterian clergyman,
traveled down from Southwest Virginia to preach to his
brethren. Samuel Doak was the first Presbyterian to take
up residence in the state. This he did in 1777. Doak was
educated at Princeton and had taught at Hampden Sydney
College. He established Martin Academy - later to be
known as Washington College in Washington County. His
school has the distinction of being the first institute of edu-
cation in the territory. By 1796, Presbyterians could boast
of 27 congregations in the new state of Tennessee. Presby-
terians and their schools made a great impact on the edu-
cation and refinement of the mountain citizens.

Baptists also played a vital role in the religious history
of East Tennessee. The earliest Baptist churches in our state
were founded in 1765. Among the first permanent settlers
in what is now East Tennessee were Separate Baptists who
came from North Carolina. They had followed Shuble
Starnes, a Congregationalist minister south from New
England. When Starnes began to preach immersion to his
fellow Congregationalists who sprinkled, he and his follow-
ers were rejected and labeled Separate Baptists. Those
people’s hearts were very receptive to the Back-to-the-Bible
plea of Barton Stone and Alexander Campbell. Multitudes
of them later entered the Restoration Movement. Among
the most notable of their descendants to embrace the Re-
storation plea were the Mulkeys: John, John Newton,
Philip, and lsaac.

Tidence Lane, a Separate Baptist preacher led a con-
gregation of his people to migrate from North Carolina into
the Southwest Territory. They settled and built the Buf-
falo Ridge Church near Boone’s Creek in what is now
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Washington County, Tennessee. A later generation of these
people embraced the gospel and formed one of the earliest
New Testament churches in the State.

By 1786 the Holston Baptist Association was formed
with seven churches. The Baptists brought with them a
missionary zeal and a belief that preachers need not be
formally educated or located with one church. Most of
their early men were self-supporting and ministered to
numerous congregations by appointment. Baptists grew
rapidly in the wild mountain country.

Methodists also played a significant role in the reli-
gious life of East Tennessee. In 1783, the Holston Confer-
ence of Methodist churches had been established. Jeremiah
Lambert was the first circuit preacher in our region. In
1796 Methodists could claim only 550 members in the
state, but they made tremendous progress in the century
to follow.

James O’Kelly led a revolt against Bishop Francis
Asbury, tyrannical leader of the Methodists in America.
O’Kelly’s followers first were known as Republican Method-
ists, but later took the name Christian as their only desig-
nation and the Bible as their only guide. Located in North
Carolina, many of O’Kelly’s itinerant preachers traversed
the mountains of East Tennessee and laid a foundation for
preachers of the Stone and Campbell movement who had a
more distinctive restoration message.

At the turn of the Nineteenth Century, the society of
the entire region was shaken by the Great Revival of the
West. This religious upheaval was ignited by the powerful
preaching of James McGready, a Presbyterian. He had a
great influence on our own Barton W. Stone who heard
him preach while a student in North Carolina and later in
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Logan County, Kentucky. In 1799, McGready's preaching
turned the religious scene of Logan County upside down.
By 1800 revival fervor had swept into Tennessee. Method-
ists, Presbyterians and Baptists forgot sectarian differences
and enthusiastically worked to turn the hard hearts of their
neighbors to the Savior. The notable Cane Ridge Revival
in which B. W. Stone gained prominence and from which
came his move to go back to the Bible was a part of this
great revival of religion. In a way that defies our under-
standing thousands of hardened sinners eagerly embraced
the exciting religion of the revivals. Lukewarm church
members were revitalized. Our earliest preachers capital-
ized on this religious awakening and won thousands of
honest souls to the old paths of true Christianity. Such
revivals attracted immense crowds of worshippers. Atten-
dance of 5,000 was frequent. The Cane Ridge meeting
claimed 25,000 participants.

The white hot emotional excitement, the ignorant
ranting of some of the preachers, and the earthy, unedu-
cated people of the frontier brought forth a strange re-
action called ‘‘acrobatic Christianity.”” A noted Method-
ist preacher wrote, ‘| spoke in Knoxville to hundreds
more than could get into the Courthouse, the Governor
being present. About one hundred and fifty appeared
to have jerking exercises . . .2

The Methodists took advantage of the camp meeting
opportunity and utilized it widely. By 1800 they could
claim 10,000 members in Tennessee which made them the
largest religious body in the state.

The Baptists soon rejected the camp meeting ap-
proach and turned to protracted meetings to spread their
views. Also, the growth of Baptists was disrupted by
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internal controversies that wracked them. During the dec-
ades of the 1820’s and 1830’s, an anti-missions controversy
was fought out. In 1833 the Tennessee Baptist convention
was organized by those who supported organized mission-
ary outreach. The West Tennessee Baptist Association
issued the following statement in 1840, ‘‘we believe, from
experience, the Missionary, Bible, Temperance, Tract and
Masonic Societies, S(unday) S(chool) Unions and theo-
logical seminaries . . . are destructive to the peace and
fellowship of the Baptist church . . "3 The careful student
will note that some of the same problems that plagued
that denominational body affected us as well. The period
between 1842-1874 has been called the ‘‘darkest in Ten-
nessee Baptist history"4 because of destructive internal
fighting.

It was during this period of discord that our church-
es experienced a period of rapid growth often at the ex-
pense of the ““warring Baptists.”” Philip S. Fall was the first
prominent Baptist minister to embrace the Restoration plea
in Tennessee. He was pastor of the First Baptist Church in
Nashville in 1830. He led virtually his entire flock into the
Church of Christ. The loss to the Baptists is well illustrated
in the experience of the Concord Baptist Association. Of
49 congregations with a membership of 3,359, the associ-
ation was left with only eleven churches and 805 members.
Those who left had gone to the restored churches. This
scene was re-enacted all across the eastern half of the
nation. This will help the reader to understand why the
Baptists still harbor such hostility towards the Church of
Christ. When they could not adequately respond to the
doctrine of our early preachers they sought to protect
their members by poisoning them toward us and our
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message. We were labeled with such uncomplimentary titles
as Campbellites, waterdogs, and mudpuppies (allusions to

our insistance on immersion).

In East Tennessee, the Baptists were and are the
dominate group with whom our workers had to compete.
In 1790 they had 18 churches, 21 preachers, and 889 mem-
bers in Tennessee. By 1814 they listed 174 churches, 133
preachers, and 12,194 members. The year of 1845 they
numbered 32,159 members and by 1860, 46,564 members®

Out of the Great Revival came the Cumberland
Presbyterian Church, established in 1825. This group soon
became the largest Presbyterian group in the state. The
Cumberland schism grew out of the revival methods of
preachers like James McGready, and their association with
other religious bodies. Finis Ewing led the way in forming
the General Assembly of the Cumberland Presbyterian
Church. They were highly evangelistic and adept at cap-
turing existing congregations of Presbyterians. By 1861
they counted 35,000 members in Tennessee. Our preach-
ers often clashed with theirs.

Catholics were scattered and few in the state. In
1830 their first parish was organized in Nashville. By 1858
they had only 11 churches in the state. Anti-Catholic
violence broke out in Knoxville in the 1850’s with the
emergence of the ““Knowing-Nothing’’ political movement.

Jews were not numerous in nineteenth century Ten-
nessee. In 1858 there were some 2,500 Hebrews in the
state with synagogues in Nashville and Memphis. The first
Jewish rabbi in Tennessee was Alexander Iser. By 1867
there was a synagogue in Knoxville.

In the early days of the century, most Methodist,
Presbyterian and Baptist churches were against slavery.
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Especially the Methodist and Baptist members who were of
the lower socio-economic class, were non-slaveholders. The
bitter political struggles of the period caused attitudes to

harden and most of the state’s churches fell in line with
sectional loyalties with most churches favoring the South
prior to the war. Division over the issue of slavery came to
most religious bodies. The Southern Baptist Convention
was formed in 1845. The state’s Baptist churches were
unanimous in supporting the new convention. The Method-
ist Episcopal Church South began the same year with all
the state’s Methodist Conferences uniting. The Protestant
Episcopal Church divided in 1861 and the Diocese of Ten-
nessee sided with the southern branch.

Christian Churches/Churches of Christ did not divide
at the time. When a separation occurred some 40 years
later it was, however, clearly along sectional lines.

East Tennessee remained loyal to the Union during
the war. Middle and West Tennessee were with the Con-
federacy. When division came, most Restoration Churches
in the Eastern part of the state went with the liberal ele-
ment. |n the middle and western sections, they largely re-
mained loyal to the old paths, rejecting instrumental music
in worship and missionary societies.

Most of the slave population in Tennessee were mem-
bers of the various churches; usually the church of their
masters. By 1860 it is estimated that ninety percent of
Tennessee’s slaves were church members. Generally whites
and blacks worshipped together, although slaves were often
seated in the balcony. There were very few blacks in East
Tennessee, mainly because of the climate and terrain which
made it unprofitable to raise cotton and the money crops
that needed slave labor.



During the Civil War years church related activities
were severely hindered. Occupying armies often requisition-
ed meeting houses for hospitals. Hostile troops and mar-
auders made it dangerous to be away from home. Trans-
portation was disrupted as militaries confiscated horses and
wagons. The fever and excitement of war turned folks’
minds away from spiritual things. Animosities were especi-
ally bad in communities where loyalties were divided.
Often Rebel and Yankee disputes erupted in the churches.
Methodists and Baptists lost upwards of thirty percent of
their membership in that dreary five-year period. Some
members of the Lord’s church followed the advice of
Tolbert Fanning and David Lipscomb and sought to remain
neutral. Others joined the fray on their chosen side.

Following the war the state was occupied by Federal
troops. Men like ‘““Parson’’ William Brownlow called for
retribution against the rebel churches. Brownlow was a
Methodist minister of Knoxville who edited the pro union
Knoxville Whig newspaper. In 1865 he was elected Re-
publican Governor of Tennessee. Secretary of War Edwin
Stanton ordered all Baptist churches in Tennessee turned
over to the pro union, Baptist Home Missionary Society.
With cessation of hostilities, blacks quickly moved out of
their former master’s churches. Black congregations and
denominations were formed.

By 1906 the principal denominations in Tennessee

were:
Southern Baptist 159,838
Methodist Episcopal, South 140,308
National (Negro) Baptist 93,303
Methodist Episcopal 43,180
Cumberland Presbyterian 42,464
African Methodist Episcopal 23,377
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Presbyterian Church in the United States 21,390

Colored Methodist Episcopal 20,634
Roman Catholic 17,252
Primitive Baptist 10,204
Protestant Episcopal 7,874

Churches of Christ numbered 41,411 at that time
with Christian Churches claiming 14,904.6 Division was a
reality among our people. Most of the congregations in
the eastern third of the state gradually fell under the in-
fluence of the Tennessee Christian Missionary Society.

In the twentieth century the Baptist solidified their
hold on East Tennessee. In many counties they now
number fifty percent or more of the population. Carson
Newman College at Jefferson City has produced a steady
stream of young ministers to lead their churches.

The other most significant religious development was
the spread of Pentecostalism in East Tennessee. In 1908,
A. J. Tomlinson founded the Church of God at Cleveland,
Tennessee. This movement, built on emotionalism and
around charismatic and dominant leaders, has fractured
repeatedly into an array of warring bodies. Several of them
still claim Cleveland as their home. Among these factions
are the Church of God of Cleveland, Tennessee; The Church
of God of Prophecy; The Church of God (Jerusalem Acres);
The United Christian Church founded by a former minister
of the Church of God of Prophecy, and the Union Assembly
Church of God. Another strange pentecostal group found
in the mountains of the state is the Church of God with
Signs Following that take their claim of miracle-working
to the extreme of handling deadly vipers and drinking
poison.7 While our preachers have often clashed with
preachers of these pentecostal groups, relatively few of their
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members have embraced the New Testament plan as they
depend mainly on emotionalism and excitement, while
our message appeals more to the intellect.

Such was and is the general state of religion in East
Tennessee. Into this environment came our ancestors in
the faith. From it they carved out a place on which to
stand and send forth the gospel call which thousands of
good and honest hearts have accepted.

The author is greatly indebted to Edwin J. Harrell
for most of the information in the Chapter as cited in the
reference below.

"David E. Harrell, Jr., Religion in the Southern States,
A History Study, edited by Samuel S. Hill, Macon, GA,
Mercer University Press, 1983, p. 290.

?|bid., p. 293.
3 .

Ibid., p. 295.
% bid.
® Ibid.
6,, .

Ibid., p. 303.

7 Ibid., p. 306-307.
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THE RESTORATION MOVEMENT ....
WHAT IT WAS AND IS

Churches of Christ are devoted to pleading for the re-
storation of the original Christianity of the New Testament.
To properly interpret and appreciate our background and
history, one must understand the meaning and significance
of the plea to restore the Lord’s cause as it was in the be-
ginning.

Restore is defined ‘“to bring back to or put back into
a former or original state’’ (Webster). Applied to Christi-
anity, it suggests that one is seeking to put back into its
original state the church which Christ built. But that sug-
gests that the church has suffered deterioration over the
years. When devoted men carefully read their New Testa-
ments and then examined the Protestant-Catholic versions
of Christianity of their day, they were struck by the differ-
ences between the original and the modern varieties. Every
aspect of primitive Christianity had suffered from attempts
of men to change it to their liking.

CHANGES

The form of church government had been changed
from a simple congregational government with local elders
to a complex pyramid government over the universal church
(compare Eph. 1:22; Phil. 1:1).
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Names by which the church was known had been
eclipsed by denominational names such as Anglican,
Methodist, Lutheran, and Baptist (compare | Cor. 1:2;
Rom. 16:16).

In most churches the recipient of baptism had been
altered by many from burial by immersion to pouring or
sprinkling water upon the head (compare Rom. 6:3-5).

The creed of the church had been displaced by
human doctrines that overshadowed the will of Jesus (John
12:48; 1l John 9-10).

The form of worship had suffered as additions and
subtractions had been made (compare Acts 2:42; Eph.
5:19).

The gospel plan of salvation was obscured by schemes
advocating salvation by good works or by faith alone (com-
pare Acts 2:37-40; James 2:24).

The unity of the one church was shattered by de-
nominationalism with its myriad of competing bodies (com-
pare John 17:20-23).

These and other changes had robbed believers of a
clear vision of what Christianity was originally like. The
seriousness of the matter is seen when we recall that an all-
wise and holy God designed the church and that sinful,
fallible men had presumed to change it. No one can ever
hope to improve on God’s word.

NOT A NEW DENOMINATION

To restore does not imply that our forefathers
created a new denomination, better than existing ones.
Christ built his church (Matt. 16:18) and declared it to be
“one body’’ (Eph. 1:22; 4:4). Even a better denomination
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would still be unacceptable, for it is the work of men com-
peting with the true church of God. It is not in man that
walketh to direct his own steps or build his own church
(Jer. 10:23).

NOT A REFORMATION

They did not propose to reform an existing denomi-
nation. Martin Luther and John Calvin set out to reform
the corrupt medieval Catholic church. They learned as did
others that such institutions are impervious to reform. A
reformation is an ‘“‘amendment of what is defective, vicious,
corrupt or depraved’’ (Webster). Had the reformers suc-
ceeded in correcting some or all the abuses of Catholicism,
the finished product would still have been the Roman
Catholic church, not the church the Lord established in
Jerusalem (Matt. 16:18).

The goal of the Restoration pioneers was to go be-
yond all the sects and denominations which have evolved,
to the original Christianity preached and practiced by the
apostles of Christ. The church which Jesus established was
exactly what God wanted it to be. Its faith, worship and
practice perfectly met humanity’s needs. Every attempt by
uninspired men to improve upon, or modernize Christianity
only succeeded in corrupting it more. The collector of
fine art objects does not settle for an imitation, no matter
how fine. He diligently searches until he finds the original.
So did they. Like the jewelry merchant, who found the
pearl of great price, they were willing to invest all to possess
it (Matt. 13:45-46). They would be simply Christians,
nothing more. Since the words of Christ will judge men in
the last day (John 12:48), those words must be heeded
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in this life.
STRIVE FOR THE IDEAL

In restoring the church of the New Testament, they
did not seek to be like the church at Corinth, Jerusalem, or
Laodicea. Every congregation then as now was made up of
human materials. While the design and blueprint of Chris-
tianity was conceived in heaven, the disciples that con-
stitute a congregation are always human, and prone to sin
(Rom. 3:23). As a consequence, every congregation re-
flects that human weakness in imperfection. Some are
good but others are average or poor. But the ideal is set
forth in the divine plan and every Christian in every age
should strive to measure up to it. |f they would dedicate
themselves to following the Bible in all matters of faith
and practice, then they would be the same kind of Chris-
tians as were the apostles.

A UNIVERSAL APPEAL

The idea of restoring New Testament Christianity
had a universal appeal to people in the nineteenth century.

It looked to that one universal church that Jesus
founded and of which he is Savior (Matt. 16:18; Eph.
5:23).

A universal book (the Bible) was set forth as the only
rule of faith and practice, the only authoritative and com-
plete respository of all that is necessary to serving God and
preparing for eternity (!l Tim. 3:16-17).

Their confession of faith was universal; that Jesus
Christ is the Son of God (Matt. 16:16).
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Universally accepted Biblical names were used such
as: Christian, disciples, brethren, saints, church of Christ
(Acts 11:26; Matt. 23:8; Rom. 16:16).

Their teaching on baptism and the Lord’s Supper was
universally appealing for they were observed precisely as
Christ instructed (Mark 16:15-16; Col. 2:12; Matt. 26:
26-29).

They had a universal aim which was to exalt and
spread the kingdom of God on earth as it is in heaven (Matt.
28:18-20).

Honest souls found it difficult to object to such
spiritual principles as: Wearing the name of Christ to the ex-
clusion of all human names . . . Faith in the living, reigning,
Christ as the only creed of the church . .. The New Testa-
ment of Christ being the church’s only book of disci-
pline . . . The recognition of the complete authority of
Christ over his church . . . Christ’s one church being exalt-
ed above all man-made institutions . . . All the commands
of Christ being obeyed by his people . . . The ideals of
Christ exemplified in the lives of all who wear his name. . ..
Unity in Christ by faith, repentance and baptism into him.

This commitment would supersede all denomination-
alism to the end that there should be one body with Christ
as both head and foundation.

The concept of Restoration was not new. It has
always been a constant need in religion. Students of church
history find many voices who made this plea. It was not
just a local movement. Across America and around the
world independent groups have sprung up with the an-
nounced goal of restoring original Christianity. This com-
mon commitment could not but bring these disciples to-
gether in Christ when sincerely followed. It was not a
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governmental or institutional movement. Rather, God-fear-
ing individuals were making their way out of the darkness
of religious confusion into the pure light of God’s eternal
truth.

While a lost world groped in darkness and a broken,
confused Christendom floundered in its own mire, a tiny
band of devout, God-fearing men launched a mighty move-
ment on the American frontier to restore the church to its
original state of purity. James O‘Kelly and Rice Haggard,
Elias Smith and Abner Jones, Barton Stone and Walter
Scott, Thomas and Alexander Campbell, men of like-
precious faith, laid their all on the altar of God and went
forth on a mighty crusade for their Master. They gladly
suffered shame, ridicule, and hardship to accomplish their
holy mission. They exalted Christ, preached his gospel,
and restored his church to her pristine purity. Never has
a more noble task been undertaken. Not since the apostles
has a band of men so blessed the world.

This then was the thinking of those noble souls who
went before us. Their convictions were not arrived at
suddenly, rather they grew as they searched the Scriptures
to ascertain God’s will for their own lives. Once found,
they determined to share them with every soul they met.
We are their heirs. Our fathers in the faith sleep in the dust
of East Tennessee’'s hills and valleys. The torch of faith
has been passed to our hands and a sacred obligation rests
upon us to keep it brightly burning and pass it on to gener-
ations that will follow.

It is important to note that the call to restoration
sprang up in many quarters. Some called themselves ‘‘Chris-
tians’’ and their congregations ‘’Christian Churches.” Some
preferred the name Church of Christ. Yet others took the
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name ““Disciples of Christ.”” For the first 100 years these
names were used interchangeably. When the division over
instrumental music in worship and church organization
arose, those who rejected those innovations gradually shift-
ed to the name ““Church of Christ’”’ since it was clearly a
name used by the inspired teachers of old. Paul said to the
Romans: ““all the Churches of Christ salute you’’ (Rom.
16:16). Those preferring instrumental music in worship
and missionary societies have generally, but not always,
taken the names Christian Church and Disciples of Christ.
Some of those congregations, however, retain the name
Church of Christ which causes some confusion. That is
the case with some churches in East Tennessee. In this
state, prior to 1880, almost none of the congregations of
the Restoration movement in East Tennessee used instru-
mental music. A group then that worshipped in a fashion
identical with us today might have been called a ‘“Chris-
tian Church.”” This distinction needs to be kept in mind
as we review the record of the past.
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RACCOON JOHN SMITH
EAST TENNESSEE'S CONTRIBUTION
TO THE RESTORATION MOVEMENT

Long before there was a gospel preacher or a congre-
gation of the Church of Christ in East Tennessee a child was
born who was destined to become one of the greatest
preachers of the nineteenth century.

On October 15, 1784 a baby boy was born to George
and Rebecca Smith in a log cabin in the Holston Valley,
Sullivan County, Tennessee. John was the ninth of thirteen
children born to the Smith’s. At that time Sullivan County
and most of East Tennessee were part of the short-lived
state of Franklin.

As a boy, John grew up working the fields of the
family farm with his father and brothers. There was little
time for play in those days. There were no public schools.
Education was gained at home or when an itinerant teacher
came to the community. John was nine or ten years of age
when he entered his first school. He was able to attend
classes only some four months. Being a bright student, he
learned to read, write, and cipher. Most important of all,
those four months opened the pages of God’s word to his
young mind. The Bible being one of the few books in the
Smith home, he read it extensively until in adulthood it
saturated every phase in his preaching.

The Smith family were devout, Calvinistic Baptists.
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John was raised in that tradition and imbibed that doctrine.
As a young man, he became a noted Baptist preacher in
Central Kentucky.

In 1795 George Smith sold his Tennessee land and
he moved to Stockton Valley in Clinton County, Ken-

tucky! Here John grew to adulthood and took a wife.

“’On the third Sunday in May, 1808, Richard Barrier
and Ishan Burnet ordained John Smith to the ministry’’ of
the Baptist Church? He preached the Baptist faith among
the country folk of Central Kentucky until 1825 when he
cast his lot with Alexander Campbell and his band of
fellow-preachers who were urging men to throw off the
chains of denominationalism and go back to the Bible.

When the North District Association of Baptist
Churches met at Cane Spring for their annual meeting, the
fourth Saturday of July, 1827, Smith was charged with
three heresies:

(1) Of reading from Alexander Campbell’s trans-
lation of the Bible instead of the King James
Version.

(2) Of saying ‘Immerse you’ instead of ‘I baptize
you’ when administering baptism.

(3) Of allowing the communicants to break their
own bread when partaking of the Lord’s Supper,
instead of having the preacher do it for them.

When read, Smith leaped to his feet and cried, ‘| plead
guilty to them all.”3

Among the brotherhood of restoring churches,
Smith’s name and reputation spread far and wide. He was
one of the most colorful leaders of the movement. The
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name ‘‘Raccoon John Smith’’ was given him because of his
claim to have come from Stockton Valley where ‘““saltpeter
caves abound, and raccoons make their homes.”* Smith
was renowned for his wit, humor, and repartee. Several
thousand souls were won to the Lord’s way through his life
and teaching.

On a preaching trip into Tennessee, Smith was in-
vited to address a meeting of lawyers and judges at Sparta
in White County. A friend later asked if he were not em-
barrassed to address such an august group. ‘‘Not the least,”
said he; ““for | have learned that judges and lawyers, so far
as the Bible is concerned, are the most ignorant class of
people in the world -- except Doctors of Divinity.”5

John Smith, a son of the East Tennessee mountains,
““was fearless, positive, humorous, and uncompromising in
his presentation of the truth. He had strong convictions
that money, position, or prestige could not buy.’’®

Death came in his eighty-fourth year on February
28, 1868. He died at the home of his daughter in Mexico,
Missouri. He was laid to rest in Lexington, Kentucky with
J. W. McGarvey delivering the eulogy.7

Surely Raccoon John Smith is an East Tennessee
Christian all can take great pride in claiming.
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BARTON STONE
AN EAST TENNESSEE SOJOURNER

Barton Warren Stone stands with Thomas and Alex-
ander Campbell as the paramount leaders of the early Re-
storation Movement. Although Stone’s principal work was
done in North Central Kentucky, he did travel through
East Tennessee and later preached throughout the middle
section of the state.

Stone received his academic training at the school
of Dr. David Caldwell in Greensboro, North Carolina.
While there he was converted under the influence of William
Hodge and joined the Presbyterian Church. Ere long, young
Barton decided that he wished to become a preacher of the
gospel. In 1793 he became a candidate for the ministry
in the Orange Presbytery. While wrestling with the pro-
found theological mysteries regarding the Trinity he be-
came depressed and almost gave up his goal of preach-
ing.! Three years were spent teaching in an academy near
Washington, Georgia. There he was associated with Hope
Hull, a Methodist preacher who had been sympathetic
with the reformation plea of James O’Kelly among
the Methodists. It is likely that Stone was influenced by
Hull’s views2 In 1796 Barton received his license to preach
from the Orange Presbytery. When his friend R. Foster
decided to abandon his work as a preacher, Stone was
tempted to do the same. Fortunately a pious old sister
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detected his discouragement and told him plainly that she
feared he was acting the part of Jonah, the prophet who ran
from his preaching assignment to the Ninevites. She encour-
aged him to go west over the mountains, which advice he
took3

His journey west led Stone through Southwestern
Virginia. He made a stop at Wythe County, Virginia, and
ended up staying from May until July preaching among the
people. His itinerary took Stone through Cumberland Gap
and Knoxville. In 1796, Knoxville was ‘‘a town of less than
one hundred dwellings and five hundred residents.”’” It was
the capital of the new state of Tennessee’

The land between Knoxville and Nashville was wilder-
ness country yet occupied by Indians. Travelers went to
the ““house of rendezvous’” to find companions for the
hazardous trip west. Two travelers were waiting to embark,
so Stone joined them for the trip. One man was ‘‘a back-
woodsman, and Indian fighter of great courage,’”” the other
a total coward. They left Knoxville August 14, 1796°

The journey was uneventful until they crossed the
Clinch River near present day Kingston. About sundown
they discovered fifteen to twenty Indians some three hun-
dred feet away near a canebreak. The pilgrims sped away
on their horses with the Indians in hot pursuit. Unable to
cross the mountains in the dark, they hid in the thicket
through the night. Wolves could be heard in the darkness.
A rain fell on them, but the Indians did not overtake them.

Stone’s horse threw a shoe the next day and was un-
able to carry him. Neither of his fellow-travelers would let
him ride on their horses. One of them had a pack horse,
but he would not even allow Stone to ride it. They rode
off leaving the poor stranger alone in the wilderness. He
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walked the one hundred and fifty miles to Nashville without
incident, driving his horse before him. To Stone, Nashville
“‘was a poor little village, hardly worth noticing.”’©

Stone soon moved to Burbon County, Kentucky
where he ministered to the Cane Ridge and Concord Presby-
terian congregations. In 1801 the great Cane Ridge revival
took place, shaking the moral and spiritual foundations of
Central Kentucky and bringing hundreds of souls to re-
pentance.

Soon Stone and his co-laborers were forced to separ-
ate from the Presbyterians. After a long and toilsome
spiritual journey he arrived at the conclusion that he must
give up all human creeds and practices, follow the Bible
alone and be a simple New Testament Christian.

Barton Stone helped to write a remarkable document
entitled the Last Will and Testament of the Springfield
Presbytery. Among the twelve items of the will we read:

We will, that candidates for the Gospel ministry
henceforth study the Holy Scriptures with fervent
prayer, and obtain licenses from God to preach the

simple Gospel . . . without any mixture of philos-
ophy, vain deceit, traditions of men, or the rudiments
of theworld . ..”

We will, that the Church of Christ resume her native
right of internal government . . .”

We will, that the people henceforth take the Bible as
the only sure guide to heaven . . .”"’

When Stone’s wife, Eliza, died in 1810, he left his
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four little girls with friends and set forth on an extended
missionary journey that brought him back to middle Ten-
nessee.

In Tennessee Stone took a new wife, Celia Bowen.
He spent part of two years preaching in Davidson, Summer,
and Wilson Counties in Tennessee while living on Mansker
Creek, near present day Hendersonville® Missionary trips
were made into Maury, Marshall, and Rutherford counties.
A tireless worker, Stone led thousands of souls to the
Master. Eventually he moved back to Kentucky where his
restoration message found a tremendous reception.

In December of 1831 a meeting occurred between the
followers of Stone and Campbell to discuss the possibility
of union of the groups. The climax came when Raccoon
John Smith addressed the assembly thusly:

God has but one people on the earth, He has given
them but one Book, and therein exhorts and com-
mands them to be one family. A union, such as we
plead for -- a union of God's people on that one
book -- must then be practicable . . ..

For several years past, | have stood pledged to meet
the religious world, or any part of it, on the ancient
Gospel and order of things, as presented in the words
of the Book. This is the foundation on which Chris-
tians once stood, and on it they can, and ought to
stand again. From this | can not depart to meet any
man, or set of men, in the wide world . . ..

Let us, then, my brethren, be no longer Campbellites
or Stoneites, New Lights or Old Lights, or any other
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kind of lights, but let us all come to the Bible, and to
the Bible alone, as the only book in the world that
can give us all the light we need®

Barton Stone, after a few preliminary comments responded:

| have not one objection to the ground laid down by
him as the true scriptural basis of union among the
people of God; and | am willing, to give him now and
here, my hand.'®

From that day the Christians and the Disciples went
forth as one body of people. Not since the days of the
apostles has the gospel been so readily received and the
Lord’s church prospered so well.

The records of the Spring Creek church near Riceville
in McMinn County indicate that Barton Stone held a meet-
ing for that church prior to his death in 1844. He greatly
influenced the spread of the Restoration cause in this
region. Many of the early preachers were influenced by
Stone and his gospel paper The Christian Messenger.

Stone died in Hannibal, Missouri, on Saturday,
November 9, 1844!" Tolbert Fanning wrote of him:

The history of Brother Stone would be the history of
the most important religious movement in the United
States, for nearly half a century . . . If justice is ever
done to his memory, he will be regarded as the first
great American reformer -- the first man, who, to
much purpose, pleaded the ground that the Bible,
without note, commentary, or creed must destroy
antichristian powers, and eventually conquer the
world . . . A man more devoted to Christianity, has
not lived nor died . . .”” 2
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THE MEN WHO FIRST SOWED THE SEED

The first preachers who preached the back-to-the-
Bible message in East Tennessee were the associates of
James O’Kelly of North Carolina. O’Kelly was likely born
in Virginia some time prior to 1741. In 1759 he was mar-
ried to Elizabeth Meeks. They made their home in Meck-
lenburg, Virginia, until 1797 when they moved to Chattham
County, North Carolina, where they resided until his death]

O’Kelly joined the Methodists in 1775 and dedicated
his life to the service of God. In 1778 he was assigned a
circuit for which he preached.2

A strong patriot, James O‘Kelly fought against the
British in the Revolutionary War3 His love of liberty and
freedom from tyranny led O’Kelly to resist Bishop Francis
Asbury’s tyrannical rule over his fellow preachers. Asbury
claimed the right to assign each man’s preaching circuit
which they had to accept without the right of appeal.

O’Kelly’s progression towards the Restoration idea
is reflected in his protest at the General Conference of the
Methodist Episcopal Church which met in Baltimore in
November 1792. He later recalled:

| then arose, and stood before the assembly with the
New Testament of our Lord Jesus, in my hand, and
spake after this manner: Brethren, hearken unto me,
put away all other books, and forms, and let this be
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the only criterion, and that will satisfy me?

When the Conference refused his petition to limit
Asbury’s power, O’Kelly submitted his resignation and left
the meeting for home. The following year (1793) at Mana-
kintown, Virginia, O’Kelly and his sympathizers officially
severed their ties with Methodism.

The Methodist records for 1793 list James O’Kelly,
John Allen, Rice Haggard and John Robertson . .. as with-
drawn from the conference’ The seceders first called them-
selves Republican Methodists.

In 1794 the Republican Methodists met at Old Leba-
non Church in Surry County, Virginia, on August 4. It was
recommended that they lay aside every manuscript and go
only by God’s word. Rice Haggard arose and proposed:

Brethren, this is a sufficient rule of faith and practice.
By it we are told that the disciples were called Chris-
tians, and | move that henceforth and forever the
followers of Christ be known as Christians simply.

Following the above motion, a brother Hafferty of
North Carolina moved that they take the Bible as their only

creed®
From this meeting came the Five Cardinal Principles

of the Christian Church:

1. The Lord Jesus as the only head of the church.
The name Christian to the exclusion of all party
and sectarian names.

3. They holy Bible, or the Scriptures of the Old and
New Testament as our only creed, and a sufficient
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rule of faith and practice.

Christian character, or vital piety, the only test of
church fellowship and membership.

The right of private judgment, and the liberty of
conscience, the privilege and duty of all.

““In 1801 the ‘Republican Methodists’ changed their
name to the Christian Church.”” 8

In An Address to the Christian Church, Under the
Similitude of an Elect Lady and Her Children, O’Kelly set
forth his view for achieving Christian unity:

7.

13.

15.

| would propose to promote Christian union by
the following method, viz: Let the Presbyterians
lay aside the book called the confession of faith
(sic).

Which faith, is proposed to ministers before they
are received, and instead thereof, present the
Holy Bible to the minister who offers himself as
a fellow-laborer.

Let him be asked if he believes that all things re-
quisite and necessary for the church to believe
and obey, are already recorded by inspired
men ...

What more does the church need, than is above
inserted! Let their Episcopal dignity submit it to
Christ, who is the head, and only head of his
church; and then we as brethren will walk to-
gether, and follow God as dear children . . .
Again, as each church is called by a different
name, suppose we dissolve those unscriptural
names, and for peace sake, and for Christ’s sake,
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call ourselves Christians. This would be ‘the
Christian Church.”®

When O’Kelly and his sympathizers broke with As-
bury’s Methodists they numbered about 1,000 members
with some thirty preachers. By 1795 the Methodists noted
’a decrease of 4,673 members among the whites (and) . ..
1644 among the colored.” Many of those lost went with
O’Kelly. By 1810 the O‘Kelly Christians claimed an esti-
mated 20,000 members.!® Those of the O‘Kelly movement
were not unanimous in their views on baptism. Some held
to sprinkling while others practiced immersion. O‘Kelly’s
co-workers, having been Methodist circuit riders, continued
their traveling evangelism not only in North Carolina and
Virginia but into all the surrounding states including East
Tennessee. James Haw, Rice and David Haggard, and
possibly others pursued missionary work in Tennessee. The
Haggard brothers were later associated with Barton Stone
and his group.!’

In 1808 Robert Punshan wrote to the Herald of
Gospel Liberty about O’Kelly’s movement. He said: “The
church has spread through Virginia, North and South
Carolina, Georgia, Tennessee, Kentucky, Ohio and the
western part of Pennsylvania, where there are thousands
united in the same spirit worshipping the Lord.”" 12

In the year 1810 Joseph Thomas, the White Pilgrim,
traveled to Tennessee. He ‘‘passed through Jonesborough,
Leesburg and Greentown in East Tennessee’’ and crossed
the Nolechucky, Wataga, Clinch, and Holstein Rivers. In
his biography he recalls ‘’In the wilderness | suffered hunger
and cold, being exposed to an incessant rain one whole
day . . .” He traveled on to Middle Tennessee and preached
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at several locations there.'?

A Christian Conference was held near Murfreesboro,
Tennessee, in August of 182614 Fifty preachers were in
attendance. Many of those present were affiliated with
Barton Stone. This reflects the fact that there was an un-
official mingling and merging of the two movements in the
fields. The similarity of their beliefs and practices made
this a natural response. In a report to Stone’s Christian
Messenger it was stated that ‘‘congregations in Tennessee
and Alabama were numerous and increasing.15

A Henry Grant of the O‘Kelly movement lived and
preached in East Tennessee. In 1859 he organized a con-
ference of Tennessee Christians.'®

These men who had resolved to be only Christians
and to be governed exclusively by God’s word blazed a
trail through the wooded hills of East Tennessee. They
did not produce lasting congregations. A later generation
traveled the trail they cut and built more permanent con-
gregations of God'’s people.

"Durward T. Stokes, and William T. Scott, History of
the Christian Church_in _the South (N. C.: Elon College,
1973), pp. 1-2.

2 |bid., p. 2.
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4 1bid., p. 11.
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POST OAK SPRINGS CHRISTIAN CHURCH:
THE FIRST RESTORATION CONGREGATION
IN TENNESSEE

Some two miles east of Rockwood, in Roane County,
Tennessee on Highway 70 stands a small frame church
building. In the yard before it is a marker that reads:

POST OAK SPRINGS, TENNESSEE
CHRISTIAN CHURCH
THE MOTHER CHURCH IN THE STATE
FOUNDED A.D. 1812....

Although the early records of this congregation are lost,
H. C. Wagner has pieced together a mosaic of her early
history which helps us understand our early days in East
Tennessee.

Among the earliest settlers that came to Roane
County was lIsaac Rice. Following the Treaty of Tellico
in 1805 which made this area available for white settlement.
Rice, his brother-in-law, William Mattock, and Joseph Mee,
moved in from Hawkins County. They settled near the site
of a present day Rockwood. ‘‘These three men built a log
meeting house and organized a congregation’’ near or about
18122 Subscribing to the Restoration plea, these folks
were zealous to share their faith with their neighbors in an
enthusiastic and uncompromising way. Several converts
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were made including ‘“‘a family of Randolph’s, Sally
McElwee, and Thomas Blake.’’ 3

The religious convictions which Rice held and preach-
ed were the same as those of Barton Stone. The Post Oak
Springs congregation enjoyed fellowship with Stone’s
followers in Kentucky.

The meeting house was destroyed by fire somewhere
between 1814 and 1817. An entry in a Roane County deed
book speaks of ‘““Isaac Rice’s burnt meeting house.”’* Rice
accused a man named Brooks of deliberately burning the
church building. The case was tried but Brooks was ac-
quitted. Shortly thereafter Rice moved south to McMinn
County and settled in an area now called Riceville. Soon
thereafter he died>

When Rice moved away the leadership of the small
congregation fell upon Major John Smith. Smith owned a
large tract of land near the Springs. Though not a preacher
he led the congregation in meeting regularly for songs,
prayers and Bible study. They met under some large oak
trees when the weather was fair®

Soon brother Smith was joined by two other faith-
ful men, a brother Long and a brother Acred who helped
him lead the group. Brother Long seems to have come
from Claiborne County and Acred from upper East Ten-
nessee/ It is thought that Long was a Presbyterian. At
first he bitterly opposed the Christians, but his only daugh-
ter married brother Alfred Owens and she won her father
to the New Testament way? He grew to be a congregation-
al leader at Post Oak Springs.

Smith constructed a mill near the spring and the con-
gregation worshipped in the mill house during inclement

weather? When Smith died, the mill passed into new hands
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and the little flock was without a regular meeting place for
some years. During this period the church floundered.

In the year 1833 Isaac Mulkey took up the Post Oak
Springs work, reorganized and rejuvenated the group. From
Barton Stone’s Christian Messenger we find the following
report:

Brother lIsaac Malkey (sic) of Roane Co., E. Ten.
July 5, 1834. Thus writes: | moved to this place 8
or 9 months ago. There were here 16 or 17, old
disciples, who had been congregated 15 or 20 years
ago by brother E. D. Moore. Last Sept. we organized
as nearly as we could with our knowledge on primi-
tive grounds. On every first day we meet to break
bread -- we attend to the apostles doctrine, fellow-
ship and prayers. In November | had the pleasure
of seeing one neighbor come and confess the Lord,
and from that time we have enjoyed glorious and re-
freshing seasons. Between 90 and 100 have been
immersed.'°

Nothing is known about the brother E. D. Moore,
but we can deduce from the dates given that he worked
with the brethren after the removal of brother Isaac Rice.

Isaac Mulkey came to Roane County from Dand-
ridge, Tennessee. |t is thought that he was a member of
the Baptist Church before moving to Post Oak. Records
tell us there was a ‘“Baptist Church of Christ constituted on
French Broad River in Jefferson County by Jonathan Mul-
key and Isaac Barton in 1786.” ''Isaac was the son of Jona-
than Mulkey. It is reported that ““the membership of this
church, under the preaching of John W. Stone and Raccoon
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John Smith, connected themselves with what is now the
Christian Church.””'2 The correctness of the statement can-
not be verified.

Mulkey labored in Roane County between 1833 and
1840. Following his departure Gilbert A. and Gilmore
Randolph ministered to the congregation.13

William J. Owens was received into the Post Oak
Church about 1836 under Mulkey’s preaching. In the early
1840’s he was ordained to preach in an open air ceremony
under the oak trees where the present church building
stands. One of the Randolph brothers and two visiting
preachers led in the service. Following his appointment,
brother Owens preached on the theme ‘‘Jesus Said, Follow
Me’’ (Matt. 4:19). From that time until after the Civil
War, Owens was an active leader of the Post Oak congre-

gation*

THE CIVIL WAR ERA

During the bloody Civil War the Post Oak Church and
the local Methodist Church were forced to suspend public
services. East Tennessee was a divided region with partisans
on both sides of the conflict. Brother John Acuff of the
Post Oak Church had four sons. Two served in the Con-
federate Army and two in the Union. One son was killed
fighting for the South!®

With the ending of hostilities and the return of peace,
both the Christians and the Methodists met to reorganize.
At the Christian Church the brethren met for worship and
communion on the first day of the week. Following the
lesson brother John Acuff, one of the elders, invited all to
participate in commemorating the Lord’s death. Two of
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his sons came forward and sat down together. A few days

earlier one had worn the Union blue, the other the Con-

federate gray. Their willingness to bridge the hostilities of

the bitter war led all the congregation to do the same.

“The wounds were healed and the church united again.” 16
W. E. McElvee recalled that at the same time:

At the Methodist Church a certain Rev. Hayden had
called a like service. He then drew out the roster or
roll list of members and called the roll. Eighty-four
answered present. He then announced that he was
going to organize a loyal church, and as he re-read the
list of names he struck off sixty-one as being disloyal,
leaving twenty-three to organize.

Those expelled left the building and after consulta-
tion decided to go to the Post Oak Christian Church where
politics and the war were not made a test of loyalty. Even-
tually most of those Methodists united with the Christians.
Ere long the Methodist Church died and its building was
left abandoned. The Lord’s church flourished with an in-
fusion of new members.!”

THE CHRISTIAN COMMUNE

During the war years Brother W. J. Owings, one of
the Post Oak elders, had moved to Kentucky where he oper-
ated a mercantile business. He was able to amass a small
fortune. Following the armistice he returned to Roane
County and the Post Oak Church.

Having read in the second chapter of Acts about the
early Christians having all things in common, Owings

38



determined to establish a communal farm where all things
would be shared in common. In 1867 he proceeded to
purchase a large farm some three miles from the church and
invited all who would to come and live in his Christian
utopia. A few went, sincerely believing that such was the
right thing to do, others who were lazy and shiftless gravi-
tated looking for free bread and easy living.

Owings enlarged a house on the farm to the size of a
hotel and built eight two-room cottages. The members ate
together in the great house and assembled there for worship.
Twice daily brother Owings instructed his flock in the
Scriptures. A mill was constructed and the folks were ex-
pected to work the farm and operate the mill to generate
their cooperate income. While all wish to eat the meals and
enjoy the shelter, few were willing to work with diligence.
From the beginning the project was a financial failure. Ere
long, Owings’ fortune was depleted and the experiment
failed.

The straw that broke the camel’s back provides an
interesting story. Elder Owing’s wife was an industrious
lady who made nice quilts and rugs for her home. Other
ladies of the commune complained that they did not have
such things for their houses. Owings tried to convince his
lady that she should share her creations or give them up.
She flatly refused! His daughter-in-law made some funds
by knitting and purchased a hand bag. Again the other
ladies insisted they should have one too. She suggested that
they get busy and earn the money to buy one.

Finally Owings realized that his dream was doomed.
The community was disbanded and the proprietor was left
penniless. Owings and the few who were faithful returned
to the Post Oak congregation, poorer but wiser.'®
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Eventually the brethren secured the abandoned
Methodist building for their meeting house. The Post Oak
Springs building erected in 1876 still stands. Among those
who preached for the congregation at this period were
James |., Anthony and J. H. Denton. J. E. Stewart served
the church in 1892-1894; W. J. Shelburne served in 1897.°

The Post Oak Springs Church was among those swept
away by the digression at the end of the nineteenth and the
beginning of the twentieth century. Today the congrega-
tion continues to meet as a Christian Church in a modern
brick structure. The old frame building stands as a silent
monument to a faith that once burned brightly in the
bosom of devoted disciples who strove to restore the simple
Christianity of the first century. From this congregation
came a faithful remnant that were the founding members
of the Rockwood Church of Christ.

'H.C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper
East Tennessee (unpublished thesis for Master of Arts
Degree, University of Tennessee, 1943), p. 27.

?bid., p. 30.
*Ibid., p. 30.
% Ibid., p. 30.
®bid., p. 31.
® Ibid., pp. 33-34.
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7 Ibid., p. 34.
8 bid., p. 35.
%bid., p. 35.

9B, W. Stone, Christian Messenger, v. 3, (Sept. 1834),
p. 282.

" As quoted by Wagner, p. 36. The original copy of this
church record is kept in the bank vault at Dandridge, Tenn.

2 |bid., p. 37.
3 |bid., p. 38.
% |bid., pp. 38-39.
% Ibid., p. 39.
'8 |bid., p. 39.
7 |bid., pp. 39-40.
'8 |bid., pp. 40-42.

9 |bid., p. 43.
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LIBERTY HILL CHURCH OF CHRIST
McMINN COUNTY, TENNESSEE

Brother Barney Casteel was the founding preacher of
the Liberty Hill Church near Englewood, Tennessee. He
also built the log meeting house in which the church met.
It was 15 x 20 feet in size. The date of its beginning was
around 1819. (An old Bible in possession of one of the
members lists the founding date as 1826). Some of the
early families at Liberty Hill were the Casteels, the Jacks,
the Elliotts, the Daughterys, the Burgers, the Casses, the
Coles, and the Whites. Some of them rest in the old church
cemetery. This original building was used until the 1840’s
when it was moved to the Liberty Hill Knoll. A plot of
land was donated by the Casse family. John Davis, the
church’s preacher, cleared the land and erected the log
building. Here also a cemetery was started. The oldest
grave marks the resting place of Nancy Elliott, born 1818,
died 1845.

During the Civil War the church building was taken
over by command of Thomas P. Duggan, leader of “The
Old Bloody Seventh Battalion.” It was used as a ‘‘pest
house,” i. e., a quarantine house for soldiers with contag-
lous diseases. Doubtless many good men breathed their
last breath within its walls.

Brother W. A. Daughtery was born in 1853 and grew
up worshipping at Liberty Hill Church. Following his
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baptism, he grew in faith, knowledge and ability. His breth-
ren appointed him their minister in 1879, a post he held
until his death in 1933. For 54 years he taught the mem-
bers the Word of God.

In the year 1886-87, the congregation had outgrown
the building, so a third meeting house was erected. A much
finer building than its log predecessors, it was constructed
of sawn lumber with the cracks covered by strips. There
were three glass windows on each side. Brother N. G. Jack
shared in the preaching duties of the church. He later
moved to Dallas, Texas and played an important role in the
evangelizing of that new field. In those days it was common
for congregations to have a man preach for them one or two
Sundays each month. Other weekends he was evangelizing
in new areas. Thus they might claim anywhere from two
to four regular preachers. Few of the preachers received
anywhere near a livable income from their preaching. They
supported their families by farming, teaching, or whatever
skills they had. Their preaching was a service freely given
for the glory of God.

A new meeting house was erected in 1908. It was
located some 300 yards from the site of the old building.
The new plot of land was given by brother Houston Jack.
Brother W. A. Daughtery was the minister at the time of
its erection.

Other men who have served the church as ministers
include Creed Samples, Frelon Williams, F. C. Williams, Jr.,
Bob Williams, and Francis Williams. The current minister
at the church is Pat Wilson. He is assisted by Mike Williams.
The present building was erected in 1975. The attendance
averages approximately one hundred on the Lord’s Day.
The Liberty Hill Church has worshipped and served the
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Lord for some 168 years. This is one of the oldest churches
in East Tennessee and one of the few that remained faith-
ful through the apostasy at the turn of the century. Many
of its members have scattered and taken root in other con-

gregations near and afar.
The church’s address is Rt. 1, Englewood, Tennessee,

37329.

Information taken from a news article “Old Liberty Hill
Church Taken in Civil War,” The Daily Post - Athenian,

June 10, 1969.
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JAMES MILLER AND BOONE’'S CREEK CHURCH

One of the earliest preachers in upper East Tennessee
was brother James Miller who was born in Maine in 1798.
He migrated to Tennessee by way of Ohio and Kentucky.
There it seems he came in contact with Barton Stone. On
October 16, 1824 he was received into the Sinking Creek
Baptist Church in Carter County, Tennessee after relating
an acceptable religious experience. Six months later on
April 16, 1825 he asked for and received a letter of dis-
missal from that church! It does not appear that brother
Miller ever preached for the Baptists. By 1826 Miller was
performing marriage ceremonies as a ‘‘minister of the
Gospel.”” A later record states that he was ordained by
Barton W. Stone and ‘‘commenced to preach in upper East
Tennessee, . .. and contending that party names tended
only to divide the people of God.”” ? Soon after separating
from the Baptists, brother Miller conducted a great revival
meeting in Boone’'s Creek Valley, Washington County
which resulted in many additions. This would have been
the summer of 1825. Miller’s preaching divided the Buf-
falo Ridge Baptist Church. An investigative committee
from the Holston Baptist Association found Buffalo Ridge
a “divided people in principle and practice.”3 In the records
of the Sinking Creek Baptist Church, October 18, 1826 is
the following note:
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We also declare against Molly Humphries for joining
Miller’s church . . . . We unanimously agree not to
invite any of the people calld (sic) Arians Socianian
Unitarians or Sysmatics or that will not wright (sic)
their creed to preach in our meeting house?

It was common for their denominational neighbors to
associate Stone and his followers with these heretical
groups. This was because the Christians would not sub-
scribe to their credal statements about the trinity. Also it
was a ‘‘name-calling’’ tactic to besmirch their Christian
faith and prejudice folks against them.

Baptist historian, J. J. Barnett records that Buffalo
Ridge Baptist Church was reduced from 350 members to
fourteen by the ‘“Arian heresy as taught by Barton Stone
and Alexander Campbell . . M

In his new home, Miller found a wife, Elizabeth
Devault. Brother Miller supported his family by farming
and teaching. His preaching was done at nights, on week-
ends, and when the crops were laid by. He taught at the
Boone's Creek Seminary.

Colonel E. E. Reeves wrote the following glowing
description of brother Miller:

Once there lived a man in this country whom | knew
three-quarters of a century ago . . . . He hailed from
Maine . . . . He was a minister of the gospel in the
Christian Church. Of heroic size, with a benevolent
face and a dignity in his bearing, he was a command-
ing figure in any assemblage of people. The Rev.
James Miller was a ripe scholar, a fluent speaker and
withal a real logician. At first he was a school teacher
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during the week and a pulpiteer on the Lord’s day.
However, soon he devoted his entire time to his holy
calling, leaving the management of his extensive farm
to his practical wife. Ere long he conducted a re-
markable religious revival on Boone’s Creek in this
county, which in its scope and sweep, was a wonder
in that day, for in that community nearly every soul
was gathered into the Christian Church; and through
the generations following to the present the Chris-
tian Church dominates all other churches in that
community. The Boone’s Creek Brick Church was
the outgrowth of that eventful religious awakening,
and was longer and more widely known, than prob-
ably any other in a large section of our country.
From it have gone out men and influences which
have proved the primal human cause of the develop-
ment of the Christian Church into the commanding
position it occupies in our section of the country.6

Most of those won from the Baptists became mem-
bers of Boone’s Creek Christian Church.

When they formerly organized their congregation, the
Boone’'s Creek brethren drafted and signed the following
statement:

We the members of the Church of Christ at Boone’s
Creek have met together on the twentieth day of
September in the year of our Lord One Thousand
eight hundred and thirty-four and according to the
Acts of the Apostles The church have chosen from
among us seven men of honest report and ordained
them elders of the church. And Daniel Fox a
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member of the church was appointed clerk of the
church on the same day and year above mentioned.

ELDERS DEACONS
James Miller William White
Jacob Miller Daniel Isenburger
Jacob Range John V. Hoss
Daniel Snider
John Elsy
Jeremiah Bacon
Jesse Hunt

George Grisham’

The membership list showed forty-four brothers in-
cluding several negroes, each identified as ‘“man of coler
(sic).”” The names of ninety sisters are given. [t is thought
that Boone’s Creek Church first began meeting as early as
1829 though it was not fully organized with elders and
deacons until 1854.

In September of 1841 John Wright, James Miller,
James |. Tipton, and David T. Wright participated in a great
gospel meeting at Boone’s Creek which won fifty-six souls
for Christ® The rapid growth of the church is seen in her
membership figures. In September 1841 she had 156; in
February of 1842, 238; in July 1842, 259; in August 1843,
299. When the Civil War began there were 318 members.
After the disruptions of the war only seventy-three mem-
bers were accounted for? This sad experience was repeated
throughout the South.

Numerous preachers were sent forth by the Boone's
Creek Church. Among them were Spotswood Dodge
(1850), Hezekiah Hinkel (1866) a black brother, W. C.
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Maupin (1867) and John Ellis.

Brother James Miller died February 19, 1874. In his
will he left a lot in Johnson City to the church for a build-
ing site. A comfortable meeting house was erected by the
brethren.

'Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), pp. 45-46.

2Samuel H. Millard and T. J. Wright, Biographical
Sketch of John Wright, as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, His-
tory of Disciples of Christ in Upper East Tennessee (Mas-
ter’s Thesis, University of Tennessee, 1943), pp. 45-56.

3Minutes of the Holston Baptist Association, as quot-
ed in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee (Master’'s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), p. 49.

4Sinking Creek Baptist Church Records, p. 94, as quot-
ed in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee (Master’'s Thesis, University of
Tennessee, 1943), p. 49.

5J. J. Burnett, Sketches of Tennessee’s Pioneer Baptist
Preachers, p. 537, as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of
Disciples of Christ in Upper East Tennessee (Master’s
Thesis, University of Tennessee, 1943), p. 50.
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6|bid., p. 46.

’Beaver Creek Church of Christ church records, as
quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in

Upper East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), p. 51.

8 Alexander Campbell, editor, Millennial Harbinger,
New Series, Vol. 5, December 1841, p. 590.

9Wagner, History East Tennessee, p. 53.

50



SPRING CREEK CHURCH OF CHRIST
RICEVILLE (McMINN COUNTY), TENNESSEE

One of the oldest congregations in East Tennessee is
the Spring Creek Church near Riceville. The exact date of
its founding is unknown but by 1830, the congregation was
well established with a meeting house on the farm of Mr.
John Roberts. On June 9, 1830, Roberts deeded the land
on which the building stood to the congregation. The
trustees who held the property for the church were Wesley
Spearman and Robert Mansell.

Among the earliest members, in addition to the
trustees, were John, Edmond and Thomas M. Roberts who
had come from South Carolina; William McNabb, and James
Billingsly. Thomas, John and Wesley Spearman were also
immigrants from South Carolina. Robert Randolph and
Isaac Rice had moved down from the Post Oak Springs
church near present-day Rockwood. Riceville received its
name from lIsaac Rice. There were the Mee, the White, the
Erickson, and Stone families in the early group. Thomas
Miller moved to the community in 1825 from Monroe
County, Kentucky. He had worshipped with John Mulkey
in the Mill Creek Christian Church near Tompkinsville.

William McNabb, Robert Mansell and James Billingsly
were early elders of the church. In those days most elders
did a lot of preaching. Robert Randolph was one of the
first preachers at Spring Creek. He had been ordained to
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preach in 1822 while living in Virginia.

William and Rees Jones moved to the community
around 1826 and were won to the faith. Isaac Newton
Jones, who in 1897 wrote an unpublished History of the
Reformation in Tennessee, tells us, “In about 1826 my
father and Uncle William Jones moved to McMinn County
and located a wool-carding machine on Spring Creek. Here
they heard of a man, (named Daniel Travis) perhaps from
Kentucky, preaching a strange doctrine in a county east
of McMinn. My father, being the principal carder, request-
ed Uncle William to go and learn what the new doctrine
was. On his return, he showed how the man had used Acts
2:38 to prove that baptism is for the remission of past sins.
The reasoning was so clear that they at once began teaching
it to their neighbors.” (A Sketch of the Reformation in
Tennessee by J. W. Grant, p. 33). On August 16, 1833 both
were ordained to preach by Robert Randolph and Isaac
Mulkey. The older preachers laid hands on them in the
special service.

Preachers in those days were not afforded the respect
and consideration of later generations. |. N. Jones tells of
a note hung on a tree at the forks of a road near Spring
Creek. It read: “Twenty dollars reward to any man or set
of men that will whip Old John Mulkey and Rees Jones."’
Jones recalled seeing his mother wiping tears from her eyes
and asking worriedly, ““Will your Pa ever get home alive?”’
His father was Rees Jones, one of the preaching brethren.

By 1833 the congregation had grown to some 60
members. |n addition to conducting the Lord’s business at
home, the elders and preachers of the church carried on an
active evangelistic outreach, preaching in adjoining com-
munities.
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Among the men preaching in the area of Spring Creek
in those early years were Isaac Mulkey, William Slaughter,
Jacob Johnson, William Brown, and Dub Ruble (Grant,
p. 35). Isaac Mulkey was one of the most capable preachers
in the ranks of the East Tennessee churches. He was a
Powerful proclaimer of the Word. When he joined the
Masonic Lodge, it created an uproar among the brethren
and the Spring Creek Church charged him with misconduct.
A disciplinary trial was conducted by the church and he was
forced to leave the area. He went on to become a famous
preacher in Kentucky and lllinois (Grant, pp. 36, 53).

In those early days the brethren in McMinn County
used the mourner’s bench at their services. Sinners were
urged to mourn and pray for a sign of God’s forgiveness.
I. N. Jones recalled seeing it argued out by his father and
other brethren (Grant, pp. 37-39).

He also remembered a controversy that arose when
traveling preachers came down from Kentucky. The custom
at Spring Creek was for the brother in charge of the Lord’s
Supper to kneel while blessing the emblems. The congre-
gation either sat or knelt. The Kentucky preachers said
they should stand. The congregation adopted the new
(standing) practice, but it grated on some of the members
to do so (Grant, p. 40).

Barton Stone, one of the early leaders of the Restor-
ation Movement, conducted a meeting for the congregation
prior to his death in 1844.

Sensing a need to expand their evangelistic efforts,
seven of the congregations in lower East Tennessee met to
form a cooperation to achieve that goal. At first the co-
operations were simply gatherings of Christians to discuss
their needs and to pool their efforts in evangelizing their
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part of the world. Participating congregations would send
representatives and then contribute toward the support of
the workers sent out.

On December 10, 1831, James E. Matthews of Bar-
tons, Alabama described an early cooperation meeting that
included preachers from southeastern Tennessee and north-
ern Alabama. John and Isaac Mulkey were present. Mat-
thews explains what transpired:

“In Conference, we despensed with the etiquette
usually observed. No bishop was called to the chair,
nor was any clergyman or lay-member chosen Presi-
dent. We entered no resolves upon our minute book.
Nor did we take the name of an ‘Advisory Council’,
but ‘with one accord, in one place’ we mutually
engaged in arranging the appointments for our next
annual meeting, so as to best promote the cause of
the Redeemer; and agreed to request you to publish
said appointments in the Christian Messenger."’

Christian Messenger, Vol. VI, No. 1
Jan. 1832, p. 26-37

On November 29, 1849, the first meeting of the
lower East Tennessee Cooperation was held at the Spring
Creek Church. Twelve churches from seven counties sent
representatives. Robert Randolph, Gilmore Randolph and
Ephraim A. Smith were sent forth as evangelists. Their
circuit covered an area 150 by 65 miles through East Ten-
nessee and northern Georgia. The missionaries were ex-
pected to visit the existing congregations where possible.
Three months were required to complete their circuit. The
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twelve participating congregations had a total of 357 mem-
bers. They pledged $390.20 for the support of their evan-
gelists.

The year following (1852), Spring Creek again hosted
the Cooperation meeting. Robert Randolph, James D.
Billingsly and John R. Frame were chosen as the group’s
traveling preachers. At the meeting the evangelist reported
100 additions and one church planted with twelve members
with prospects in several places very flattering.

Churches that participated in the 1851 Cooperation
meeting were Athens, Smyrna, Spring Creek, Philadelphia,
Trenton, Rocky Springs, Daddy’s Creek, Coosawatter,
Chatatee, Hare's Creek and Post Oak Springs. The total
membership had increased to 550. They pledged $338.25
for evangelism the following year and selected brother
Thomas A. Witherspoon to be their traveling evangelist.

Again in 1852 Spring Creek hosted the annual meet-
ing. They had grounds suitable for camp meetings. Entire
families came to the meetings bringing their bedding and
supplies in their wagons. They camped out together. The
programs ran from Thursday or Friday through the Lord’s
Day. There were preaching, singing, fellowship meals, and
business sessions for the men-folks. Children played, young
adults courted, and the women visited. All were blessed by
the opportunity to be with fellow-Christians. At a later
Cooperation meeting (1873) the subjects addressed by the
speakers were Anti-Christ, Prayer, How to Use the Lord’s
Day, Love, Purity of the Church, and Spiritual Influence.
Though times have changed, these topics are yet timely.

The decade of the 1850’s saw many of the Spring
Creek brethren migrate westward. There was an extended
drought that brought great hardship on the farmers. The
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cheap land on the western plains attracted many.

At least six, possibly seven, buildings have stood on
the property since the church’s beginning. A graveyard
holds the dust of multitudes of disciples who served God
in the days of their earthly sojourn. Slaves rest there along
with their masters.

Among the men who have preached for the Spring
Creek Church as regular ministers or revival speakers in
recent years are: W. C. Phillips, Sr., Homer Daniel, J. Ed
Nowlin, Boyd Fanning, Charles Lemmons, Ralph Samples,
John Renshaw, David Pharr, Gentry Stults, Paul Kidwell,
Buford Holt, Darrell Moore, Ralph Henley, Raymond
Crumblin, and Wendell Needham.

For the past twenty years, brother Franklin Hyberger
of Cleveland, Tennessee has served as the regular preacher
for the congregation.

The present elders are Jerry Flatt, Paul Matthews,
and Marshall McKinney. Deacons are Ted McKinney and
Joe Nipper.

The congregation enjoys a nice modern meeting
house constructed in 1951 at a cost of $9,273. They have
recently built a preacher’s home. Over the years, they have
assisted numerous good works and mission efforts to spread
the borders of God's kingdom.

The church’s address is: RR/Spring Creek, Riceville,
Tennessee, 37370.

! Ethelyn Barnes Mitchell, Spring Creek Church - ““An
Early Example of Missionary Cooperation,’* Gospel Advo-
cate, Vol. 129, No. 9, May 7, 1987, pp. 268-2609.
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2Current information supplied by Franklin Hyberger.

3 |saac Newton Jones in A Sketch of the Reformation
in Tennessee by J. W. Grant, Nashville, unpublished manu-
script, 1897.

57



ROBERT RANDOLPH
PIONEER PREACHER OF LOWER EAST TENNESSEE

One of the early pioneer preachers in Roane and
McMinn County was Robert Randolph.

He was ordained to preach in Virginia in 1822. His
brothers Elisha and Elihu also were preachers. Robert and
Elihu migrated to East Tennessee and settled in McMinn
County. He had some contact with the Post Oak Springs
Church in Roane County before his association with the
Spring Creek Church. Soon, he was preaching for the
brethren at home and throughout the region. For some
25 years, he was a principal leader in the Spring Creek
Church. Isaac Newton Jones, who grew up in the Spring
Creek congregation, has left us a general description of
Randolph as a preacher.

He remembered that Randolph had ‘‘a strong moral
sentiment and fair reasoning powers.”” Not being a worldly-
minded man “he devoted much time to preaching.” His
dedication to the Lord’s work often left him and his family
devoid of the comforts of life.

Randolph was not ‘‘very pugnacious.”’ Because of his
kindly spirit, he was highly regarded by all and especially
qualified in building up churches and keeping them in order.
After the Mulkeys left East Tennessee, he lamented: ‘‘Rees
(Jones) is a host in himself; he can do the fighting, but |
have no one to build up.”
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Brother Randolph’s ‘‘sermons were plain and did-
actic.”” When the occasion demanded, he could ‘‘thoroughly
arouse his audience by exhortation.”’

When he really ‘“got into a sermon’’ and all other
things were right, he would seize ‘“the front edge of the
hand-board with his hands about two feet apart and gradu-
ally raising his voice to a pitch that might be called ‘sten-
torian,” and with no gesticulation save that of raising his
rigid body on his toes and then dropping on his heels at
emphatic points, for fifteen minutes he could pour forth a
torrent of scripture . . . that like an avalanche, swept every-
thing before him. When done, he dropped into his seat ex-
hausted, limp as a withered leaf.”

Once when going from McMinn County to speak at
Post Oak Springs near Rockwood, he had to cross the Ten-
nessee River. He did not have 50 cents to pay to ride the
ferry, and the operator refused to take him over. Finally,
he offered the man his new silk bandana which had cost
him $1.25. We can only hope he was rewarded adequately
to pay his ferry fee homeward.

In his latter years brethren fondly referred to him as
““Father Randolph’’ - a common expression in those days
for men loved and esteemed as family.

Brother Robert Randolph played a major role in the
planting of New Testament Christianity in lower East Ten-
nessee. May we not forget our debt to him and those with
whom he served.

! Isaac Newton Jones, in A Sketch of the Reformation
in _Tennessee, by J. W. Grant, Nashville, unpublished
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manuscript, 1897.

2Ethelyn Barnes Mitchell, ““Spring Creek Church -
Early Example of Missionary Cooperation,” Gospel Advo-
cate, Vol. 129, No. 9, May 7, 1987, pp. 268-269.
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WILLIAM JONES AND REES JONES
PIONEER PREACHERS IN McMINN COUNTY

William and Rees Jones moved to McMinn County
c.a. 1826. There they set up a wool-carding business on
Spring Creek.

When they heard reports of a Kentuckian named
Daniel Travis, who was preaching a strange doctrine about
baptism in a nearby county, William went to check him out.
He came home persuaded that baptism is necessary for the
remission of past sins. Already, he and Rees had pondered
the connection of baptism and forgiveness in light of Mark
16:16. He explained his new found conviction to his
brother, and both began to share it with their neighbors.

Most of their neighbors believed that a direct oper-
ation of the Holy Spirit was necessary to convert a sinner.
Such an experience was usually sought at the ‘“‘mourner’s
bench’’ where sinners begged God for a sign of his accep-
tance. Those who ‘‘got religion’’ at the mourner’s bench
often were overwhelmed with emotion and shouted. Some
of them swooned or broke into uncontrollable ‘““holy”’
laughter. Others experienced ‘‘the jerks’’ and/or barked
like dogs. Of course, we recognize today that these experi-
ences were manifestations of religious hysteria, but on the
frontier, they were thought to be the workings of God.
The Jones’ brothers recognized that such disorderly be-
havior was unknown in the Scripture and worked diligently
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to convince their neighbors of the folly of it.

Both brothers were ordained to preach by the Mea-
dow Fork Church in 1833.

Following the long-standing example of their religious
neighbors, each man received a license to preach from the
church. It read:

“This is to certify all whom it may concern that by
the request of the Church of Christ convened at the
Meadow Fork of Eastananlle Creek, McMinn County,
Tennessee, Rees Jones was set apart to the ministry
of the Gospel and its ordinances by prayer and the
imposition of the hands of Robert Randolph and
Isaac Mulkey, Elders of the Church of Christ. August
16th, 1833.

Signed by Order of the Church

Wm. Slaughter,
Wm. A. Brown”’

Opportunities were found to preach in private homes,
in groves and barns, in school houses and the few scattered
church buildings. In the summer there were big encamp-
ment meetings.

Preaching was no bed of roses in those days. A man
went mainly at his own expense. While away from home,
his family and farm were often left unattended. There was
persecution both at home and abroad. They were derided
as schismatics and accused of denying the Trinity, the Deity
of Jesus, which charges were utterly false. They charged
them with denying the operation of the Holy Ghost and

62



heartfelt religion. They were called New Lights, Stoneites,
and Campbellites.

The opposition was bold and fierce, and our preach-
ers had to build with the sword in one hand and the trowel
in the other. Their sermons were a blend of argument, re-
futation, education, and exhortation. Having survived the
heat of many a battle, Willam and Rees Jones were known
as ‘‘warriors or fighters.”

As noted before, hostile sectarians actually posted a
sign on a tree at the forks of a road which read: “Twenty
dollars reward for any man or set of men that will whip
old John Mulkey and Rees Jones.” We have no reason to
doubt that they literally meant to fulfill their offer.

Rees Jones’ son recalled seeing his mother weeping
when his father was late returning from a preaching appoint-
ment, fearing that harm had befallen him. In those days,
preaching was no job for a cowardly man or a weakling.
Only the strong survived.

A major contribution of brother Rees Jones was to
help the brethren put away unscriptural practices such as
the mourner’s bench and the high wrought emotionalism
that led to such excesses as shouting and the jerks. Not all
the brethren were inclined to do so, and many hot dis-
cussions transpired before truth and reason prevailed.

Sister Nancy Mulkey, the youngest daughter of old
John Mulkey, was known for her shouting and getting
happy at the revival services. When she could no longer
contain her emotions, she would rise and with a shining
““countenance and fire in her eyes . . . with a pattern that
showed the depth of her soul . . . would pour forth an ex-
hortation lasting from five to fifteen minutes, which neither
her father nor brother could equal.” (I. N. Jones, A Sketch
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of the Reformation in Tennessee, p. 55). To the Jones’
brothers goes the credit for helping the brethren to learn
a more acceptable way of conduct in worship.

William Jones did most of his evangelistic work in
East Tennessee. ‘‘He was a close reasoner and a rigid ad-
herent to the Bible and its teaching; and he opposed all
distortions and spiritualizing contrary to the clear teaching
of scripture.”’

William, Rees, and Isaac Jones, and their brother-in-
law Samuel Hand had a combined blacksmith and wood-
shop in McMinn County. One day in 1833, R. J. Meigs,
a young attorney, dropped by while campaigning for a
seat at the State Constitutional Convention. Almost the
whole day was spent discussing religion with the Jones’
brothers. Meigs later described his discussion among the
blacksmiths thusly:

““Rees put me into the fire, and when a welding
heat, he laid me on the anvil and he and Bill pound-
ed away on me till Rees got sorry for me, and gave
the signal to stop; but Bill kept on pounding with
his sledge . . .”” (l. N. Jones, p. 59).

Rees Jones was always found where battle raged the
fiercest and hottest. Those not well acquainted with him
called him “hard-hearted’” and a ‘‘warhorse.”” His son re-
membered him as tender-hearted. He sympathized with
the poor, the sick and distressed. While he often had to
perform spiritual surgery to remove the cancer of error
from people’s minds, he did so as a sympathetic surgeon.
At times, tears would fill his eyes and choke his voice
while preaching. He would have to stand silent until the
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emotion subsided.

He stood on the platform of “The Bible Alone.”” He
taught his hearers: ‘“What God through his Son commands,
do -- what he forbids, let alone...” ‘“Obey God, and leave
the consequences with him.” When any religious question
was raised, he responded, ‘“To the law and to the testimony;
What does the Bible say?’’ In the words of his son, he was
““anxious to learn the truth; he grappled with questions of
the day as Sampson with the lion, and never rested till the
jaws of heresy were torn asunder, and the fangs of the
destroyed fully exposed.”’

When Alexander Campbell proposed the name ‘‘Dis-
ciples” for the people of the Restoration Movement, Rees
Jones was quick to declare his preference for the name
“’Christian’’ which God had ordained for his people.

For sixteen years, Rees Jones labored in lower East
Tennessee. He challenged the false views and practices of
his denominational neighbors and those within the church
as well. ‘’Persecution swirled about him . ..” ‘““Vile per-
sonal abuse was heaped upon him, sticks were shaken over
his head, rewards were offered for his lynching, and he was
threatened with the law . . .”” (l. N. Jones, p. 73). His son
Isaac feared that he would be killed like martyrs of the
Scripture. A Methodist friend told him, ““Mr. Jones, your
unimpeachable moral character is all that saves you."’

Upon leaving East Tennessee, William Jones moved
on to Missouri. There he debated a Methodist minister on
baptism. At the conclusion of the discussion, his opponent
said:

“‘Sir, | have made the best fight | could; | find | am in

error, and now | demand baptism of you, that | may

walk in a new life.”
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Jones immersed him according to the ancient Biblical in-
struction.

William Jones died shortly after the Civil War. No
record has been found of the last days of Rees Jones.

Those noble Christian brothers are part of that great
band of witnesses that lived by faith, fought a good fight,
and finished their course. We are grateful heirs.

The information in this chapter is extracted from
Isaac Newton Jones in A Sketch of the Reformation in
Tennessee by J. W. Grant, Nashville, unpublished manu-
script, 1897, pp. 33-76.
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JOHN MULKEY
EARLY PIONEER PREACHER IN McMINN COUNTY

The most notable of East Tennessee’s early preachers
was John Mulkey who lived for a while in McMinn County
and preached throughout the region.

John Mulkey was born January 14, 1773 in Fair
Forest, South Carolina. His parents were Jonathan (1752-
1826) and Nancy Mulkey. His father was a notable Bap-
tist preacher from an illustrious family of Baptist ministers.
John had two brothers, Phillip and Isaac. All of them grew
up to follow the profession of their father as Baptist preach-
ers.

When the boys were yet small, the family moved into
Carter’s Valley in Upper East Tennessee. The date of their
move was between 1775-1780. Jonathan helped to organize
the Baptist Church on Boone’s Creek in Washington
County, which was later known as Buffalo Ridge. Mulkey
was one of the first Baptist preachers to reside in Tennessee.
Here the Mulkey boys grew to manhood and began their
careers as preachers.

John Mulkey began preaching in 1793 when twenty
years of age. It is probable that he was licensed by the
Buffalo Ridge Baptist Church which his father pastored
for forty-two years and in which young John would have
grown up. He soon grew to be recognized as one of the
finest pulpit orators in the area.
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Near the turn of the century, John took for his wife
Elizabeth Hayes. Also, he and his brother Phillip migrated
westward into Kentucky. They settled on Mill Creek in
Green County (now Monroe County) near present day
Tompkinsville. It is thought that John organized the Mill
Creek Baptist Church during the year 1798. While living
at Mill Creek, John and Elizabeth raised a family of ten
children. All of their sons, save one, became gospel preach-
ers. Two of them, Isaac and John Newton, went on to be
outstanding proclaimers of the gospel.1

With the coming of the great revival, new winds of
doctrine began to flow within the churches. As people
began to study the Bible with renewed zeal and enthusiasm,
they discovered discrepencies between their denominational
doctrines and the Sacred Word. John Mulkey’s thinking
was affected as he measured the fundamentals of Calvinism
as set forth in the Philadelphia Confession of Faith and
held and taught by the Baptists of his day.

In July of 1805, a Baptist sister by the name of Gunn
was accused of joining the Arians - the favorite word of de-
rision for Stone and his people. Mulkey sought to win her
back to no avail. In 1806, the circular letter of Mulkey’s
Stockton Valley Baptist Association contained a tirade
written by an Elder Louis Ellis against the Stoneites.

Later, the Baptist Church on Little Barron River
(later called Gamaliel) invited Mulkey to come and help
them with a problem. A brother Louis Byrum had traveled
to Cane Ridge in Burbon County and invited Barton Stone
to come to the community to preach. Several people had
been won over to Stone’s views including Byrum.

Abner Hill, a fellow member of the Stockton Associ-
ation, wrote that Mulkey went to talk with Byrum in hopes
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of reclaiming him. Brother Byrum suggested that first they
ask God’s blessings on their discussion. So fervent was his
prayer for open hearts and open minds that they would
honor Bible truth above human creeds that Mulkey's pre-
judice was melted.

Though he did not change immediately, John's right-
eous soul was stirred. Day and night his mind wrestled with
the great truths he had encountered and his obligation to
them. Finally, one night he was so troubled he could not
sleep. Rising while it was yet dark, he saddled his horse
and rode eight miles to the home of Byrum, arriving at
breakfast time. Byrum invited him to eat with them, but
Mulkey insisted they first must talk. He apologized for
opposing the truth his friend had taught and then pledged
himself to join him in preaching the ancient gospel.2 For a
while he continued his work with the Mill Creek Baptist
Church.

Isaac T. Reneau, a fellow worker of Mulkey, wrote a
vivid account of Mulkey’s break with the Baptists. In 1809,
Mulkey was delivering a sermon on John 10 at the home of
William Sims. While making a diligent effort ““to establish
Calvinism, his own argument convinced him(self) that the
doctrine was false.”” Being an honest and plain-spoken man,
he expressed a change of conviction on unconditional
election and other doctrinal matters. A storm of contro-
versy erupted in the Mill Creek Church and in the Stockton
Valley Baptist Association. He was charged with heresy
and notified to stand trial at the August meeting of the
Association. At that session, his opponents could not
secure a guilty verdict. They called on five sister churches
to assist them and scheduled another inquisition for Octo-
ber. After the charges were reiterated, they called for a
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show of hands, and the majority still favored Mulkey. At
the November session, the same accusations were received.
Mulkey proposed that they ‘’drop all disputes and bear with
one another, but they replied ‘Never, till you come back to
the very ground from which you started’.”” Mulkey then
proposed to dissolve the Mill Creek Church which was
unanimously accepted.3

On Saturday, November 18, 1809, the Mill Creek
Baptist congregation assembled and their embattled preach-
er entered the pulpit. There was nothing left to discuss.
The die had been cast. John Mulkey announced “‘all of
you who believe as | do, follow me out the west door.”
Like an axe splitting fire wood, his words splintered the
congregation. Among the first to follow Mulkey out of
the Baptist faith and back to the Bible was Hannah Boone
Pennington, sister of the great frontiersman Daniel Boone.
Others included Joseph Gist, Nathan Breed, Obediah
Howard, and William Logan. Before the exodus ended,
one hundred fifty of the two hundred members had taken
their stand with Mulkey. The remnant of loyal Baptists
made no claim on the meeting house. They left to form a
new congregation according to their denominational tra-
dition?

Following the separation, Mulkey and those that
followed him met on the third Saturday in November and
organized a congregation on the Bible alone - without a
human creed, confession of faith, or book of discipline.

The Baptist historian J. H. Spencer wrote: “In 1812
John Mulkey was excluded from the Baptists for having
joined the New Lights . . ."’® Barton Stone and his followers
were called New Lights. Campbell was unknown in Ken-
tucky at this time. Spencer also spoke of the Unitarian
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views and other fanatical sentiments of Barton W. Stone® He
labeled Mulkey as ‘‘unstable and carried about by every
wind of doctrine - first falling into Arianism, and then into
Campbellism.”” He does concede, however, that ‘‘he main-
tained, as far as known, an unblemished moral character.’’ ’
The minutes of the Mill Creek Church state that Mulkey:

““denied the Essential doctrin (sic) of the Gospel such
as denying in our Esteem that Jesus Christ satisfied
the demands of Law and Justice for his people or
died as our Surety or that any man is saved by the
righteousness of Jesus Christ imputed to them Also
finely (sic) for treating the church with contempt
and going away and leaving us in an unpleasant situ-
ation.”’ 8

John Mulkey was a tireless preacher. He traveled
throughout his region of southern Kentucky and the nearby
counties of Tennessee. His enthusiasm for his new found
faith bore abundant fruit as hundreds of converts were
brought to the Lord and the New Testament way.

Between the years 1825-1829, John Mulkey moved
his large family to McMinn County, Tennessee. There he
farmed to provide for his family while he preached the re-
storation gospel throughout the region. He was associated
with Rees and William Jones and the Randolphs, Elihu and
Robert. He traveled throughout the territory of the Lower
East Tennessee Cooperation and did some work in Northern
Alabama. His sons, Isaac and John Newton, were actively
engaged in evangelizing while in Tennessee. In 1834, John
Mulkey wrote to Barton Stone’s Christian Messenger from
Meesville in McMinn County, Tennessee. He reported some
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30-40 converts recently baptized (Vol. 8, No. 10, p. 318).

It is interesting to read in the McMinn County tax
lists for 1829, 30 and 31 that Jonathan Mulkey, John N.
Mulkey, and John Mulkey, Sr., were recorded as ‘‘Capt.
Mulkey’s Company.” The county was divided into mili-
tary districts at that time, and the records indicated the
adult males available for militia service should the need
arise.®

Isaac Newton Jones knew John Mulkey well when he
was a boy in McMinn County. He wrote a candid descrip-
tion of our subject in 1897. ““Old John Mulkey, as he was
then called, was of medium height and slightly corpulent,
weighing, | suppose, one hundred and eighty to two hun-
dred pounds. He was a graceful horseback rider . .. Though
he was not a rigid logician, his musical voice, aided by
ideality, sublimity, and an easy-flow of language, readily
fixed the attention of an audience; and when desirable, he
could carry away his hearers by a whirlwind of natural
eloquence.”’ 1°

John Mulkey’s success in refuting the doctrines of
the various denominations, putting their preaching champ-
ions to flight and winning their members over to the truth
infuriated his sectarian neighbors. On one occasion, some
of the more belligerent of them posted a sign on a tree in
the forks of a road in McMinn County that offered “Twen-
ty dollars reward for any man or set of men that will whip
old John Mulkey and Rees Jones.”'' Such threats did not
intimidate or deter him from his mission. He was thorough-
ly prepared to endure hardness as a good soldier of Christ
Jesus.

John Mulkey was a long-time friend and associate of
Barton Stone. When Alexander Campbell entered the field,
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Mulkey had the highest regard for him, sending occasional
correspondence to Campbell’s Millennial Harbinger. While
he admired these men of God, he did not look to them for
the substance of his faith. He followed Jesus; he studied,
obeyed, and proclaimed the New Testament of Christ.

Mulkey returned to Monroe, County, Kentucky some
time between 1834 and 1840. He continued his preaching
until 1842 when bad health forced him to curtail his labors.
His last year was spent confined to his home. When death
drew near, he confided to one of the elders, ‘“You cannot
think how willing | am to die.”” He requested that when it
appeared that he was departing that those present sing his
favorite hymns. ‘’He calmly fell asleep in Jesus, December
13, 1844. He had preached for fifty-one years and de-
livered upward of ten thousand sermons.

His body was laid to rest near Vernon, Monroe Coun-
ty, Kentucky. His epitaph reads: “John Mulkey, a faithful
preacher of the Gospel of Christ.”” 12

Present day Churches of Christ in East Tennessee and
Southern Kentucky owe a tremendous debt of gratitude to
Old John Mulkey, the man who took his stand for Christ.

'Vernon Roddy, Mulkey Meeting House a Tenntucky
Experience, Hartsville, Tennessee, privately published,
1979, pp. 20-53.

2R. L. Roberts, The Mulkey Movement, cassette re-
cording, delivered at the Cane Ridge Restoration Workshop,
Lexington, Kentucky, no date.
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3)saac T. Reneau, as quoted in W. C. Rogers, Recollec-
tion of Men of Faith, Rosemead, CA, Old Paths Book Club
(reprint 1960) pp. 224-225.

4E. Clayton Gooden, ““John Mulkey: The Man With a
Majority,” Discipliana, Vol. 24, No. 6, Jan. 1965, pp. 74-75.

5J. H. Spencer, A History of Kentucky Baptists From
1769 to 1885, Cincinnati, 1886, Vol. 2, p. 223.

61bid., p. 214.

7J. H. Spencer, A History of Kentucky Baptists From
1769 to 1885, Cincinnati, 1886, Vol. 1, p. 378.

8 Roddy, Mulkey Meeting House, p. 41.

21bid., p. 45.

10 |saac Newton Jones in J. W. Grant A Sketch of the Re-

formation in Tennessee, Nashville, unpublished manuscript,
1897, p. 52.

" |bid., p. 37.

2 |saac T. Reneau, Obituary, “Millennial Harbinger,”
Series 111, 1845, Vol. 2, p. 380.
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JOHN NEWTON MULKEY

John Newton Mulkey was the son of the famous John
Mulkey, noted preacher first of the Baptists and then of the
Restoration. Newton, as he was called, was born on Febru-
ary 11, 1806 two miles Southeast of Tompkinsville, Ken-
tucky. His father later moved to McMinn County, Tennes-
see. There Newton grew to manhood. He married Nancy
Laugh on October 7, 1824. He was baptized into Christ by
brother Samuell DeWhitt.! At age twenty-three, Newton
made his first attempt at preaching in the home of brother
Rees Jones on Eastananlle Creek in McMinn County. The
year was about 1831.

Services were conducted at night after the day’s
chores were finished. Neighbors were invited and usually
a goodly number assembled. Candles were scarce and glass
lamps unknown in those early years. Light was provided
by burning pine knots.

A sectarian preacher was in the audience that night
and began to ask young Mulkey difficult questions which
he could not answer. He found evident delight in watching
the young man “‘stew.”’

Brother Rees Jones was an older, seasoned preacher,
but it was his policy never to interfere in such discussions
when services were in his home. He quietly stood by the
fireplace, keeping the pine knots blazing and observing
every word spoken. Eventually, the denominational man,
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feeling the flush of victory, turned and pointing to Elder
Jones, said: ‘| demand of Old Rees that he answer my
difficulties.”” The gauntlet was thrown down and brother
Jones was more than glad to respond. The brethren called
Jones ‘‘the war horse’’ because of his ability to meet and
refute false teachers. It was not long at all before the
visitor was anxious for the meeting to close?

Sometime in 1833 or 1834, Newton moved back to
Kentucky where he grew famous as a preacher of the
ancient gospel. Although he had only a common educa-
tion, he studied deligently and enjoyed great respect for
his knowledge of the word.

Brother H. Smith wrote of Newton:

‘“His fame could not be confined, but went abroad.
He was now invited to preach in school houses and
private dwellings. The pleasant shade of the trees in
summer and fall was as good a home as he wanted.
Calls came from all parts of Southern Kentucky . . .
to pay them a visit, hold meetings, organize churches,
and build up the cause of the Master. Poor as he was,
working with his own hands to support his family, he
never failed to respond when in his power to do so.
He would often go a distance and hold a successful
meeting and return home after an absence of two or
three weeks and not bring money enough with which
to buy his wife a calico dress . . . He never thought
much about the pay in money; all he cared for was
to feed and clothe, and educate his family . . 3

Whatever he did in life, he did with all of his might. Thus
did he approach the Lord’s work.
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Newton Mulkey’s style of preaching is vividly de-
scribed by brother Smith:

““John Newton Mulkey’s manner of preaching was of
its own kind -- unlike that of any other man’s. Those
who were vain enough to try to imitate him, either in
manner or in matter, were lost. He was left-handed,
held his little Testament in his right hand, and gestic-
ulated, or, may | be permitted to say, talked with his
left hand. | do not say that a stranger could under-
stand what he meant to say by the movements of his
hand, but being well acquainted with him, | have
often been able to anticipate him; that is, | could tell
what he would say next by the motion of his hand.
He was, of course, not a man of learning -- had no
collegiate education -- only versed in the common
English branches. Yet his language was chaste, his
reasoning clear and convincing, his sentences well
connected and quite complete. It could be said of
him truthfully that he reasoned very closely, and all
of his illustrations were usually apt and strong,
throwing light on the subject under consideration.”

It was not brother Mulkey’s reasoning -- not his fine
language -- not his distinct articulation alone that did
the work in winning souls to Christ. It was largely
his manner, his beaming countenance, his tone of
voice, the melody of that voice -- his words falling
pleasantly and sweetly upon the ear. Then his heart
was in all he said, and the hearers felt the truth and
realized the power of this fact.””*
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In addition to his preaching skills, Newton was a
gifted singer. His voice was rich and full and very melod-
ious.

Isaac T. Reneau, a fellow preacher, estimated that
Newton Mulkey delivered upward of ten thousand sermons
in his fifty-three years of preaching.

In 1843, brother Mulkey and Sandy E. Jones jointly
conducted a revival at Tompkinsville, Kentucky. Jones
did most of the preaching, and Mulkey the exhorting and
baptizing. The exhorter preached a shorter motivational
lesson following the main discourse. In that meeting,
one hundred thirty-two were received by confession and
baptism®

In a five-day meeting in Celina, Tennessee in the
summer of 1855, Mulkey converted and baptized one
hundred and five souls into Christ®

After a long and glorious career in the Master’s ser-
vice, John Newton Mulkey went to be with his Lord on
September 26, 1882. He was seventy-six years old at the
time of his death.

'Vernon Roddy, Mulkey Meeting House, A Tenntucky
Experience, Hartsville, Tennessee, privately published, 1979.

2 |saac Newton Jones, in A Sketch of the Reformation
in Tennessee, by J. W. Grant, Nashville, unpublished manu-
script, 1897, pp. 54-55.

>William C. Rogers, Recollections of Men of Faith,
Rosemead, CA, Old Paths Book Club, reprint, 1960,
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pp. 211-222.
41bid., pp. 220-222.
S1bid., p. 214.

61bid., p. 226.
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A DAY IN THE LIFE OF APREACHER

As we seek to piece together a mosaic of the every-
day life and work of our early East Tennessee preaching
brethren, we are ever mindful that portions of the picture
are missing, with no record preserved for us. We can, how-
ever, reconstruct a fair resemblance of their activities from
the records of their contemporaries.

W. C. Rogers describes a typical preaching experience
of John Newton Mulkey. Most of the other preachers
would have similar circumstances in which to meet their
appointments.

““A week of hard labor in the field has passed away,
as have many. He is weary and wayworn, as well as his
horse, Dave, for he has only one now. Like his master, he
is tired from overmuch work. Breakfast is over, Dave is
fed, and bridled and saddled. Bright and early brother
Mulkey mounts his faithful horse (for he can now do no
better), rides eighteen or twenty miles, and reaches the
place of preaching. He walks upon the platform, and looks
over a large congregation, seated on logs, slabs and chairs,
assembled to hear him preach the Word. He takes from his
pocket a hymn-book, and, announcing the song, sings with-
out lining. The singing is good -- and very good. |t has
thrilled the entire audience . . . The prayer is offered -- a
prayer full of tenderness and love . . . The text is read, and
the sermon has been delivered. It has been a very long
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one -- two hours, or two and a half. You imagine the people
are weary. Well, as often as the time comes for meeting in
that same neighborhood, the same immense assembly may
be seen on the same ground ready to hear the same preach-
er. Some have come ten or fifteen miles, and having made
the good confession must be baptized without delay.”’

“In those early days, there were no baptismal suites
and often our brother was compelled to pull off his coat
and shoes and thus go down into the water to baptize.
Coming up out of the water, he would sit down on a rock,
log or stump, and pulling off his wet socks would wring
them out and put them on again; then adjusting his shoes
and coat as best he could . . .”

“This being attended to, the meeting for the day is
closed. By this time the preacher is greatly exhausted; still,
he must make haste and start for home; for on the following
day he must follow the plow in the field, to feed those
whom God had given him. Dinner is dispatched with some
friend or brother, and be it remembered the faithful horse
has not been forgotten. He mounts his horse and turns his
face homeward . .. ."""

'w. C. Rogers, Recollections of Men of Faith (John
Newton Mulkey) (1806-1882), Old Paths Book Club, Rose-
mead, CA, 1960 (reprint), pp. 218-219, 222.
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BRUSH ARBOR PREACHING

In the early years, meeting houses were few and
small. Often our brethren had meetings where the atten-
dance far exceeded the capacity of their little buildings.
At other times, they were preaching where no established
congregation of the Lord’s church existed. If no suitable
building could be found, then they prepared an outdoor
place of assemblage. These came to be known as brush
arbors. Brother W. C. Rogers had preserved for us a good
description of such a meeting arrangement:

““The meeting was held chiefly at a stand in the
woods. A rude stand was made, some three or four
feet high, with a puncheon or slab floor, some ten
feet long and five or six feet wide, with a board in
front on which to put a book, and behind which the
preacher stood. It was covered with a thick layer of
green brush. There were three or four rows of seats,
with two or more aisles between them leading down
towards the stand. For lights we had scaffolds erect-
ed all round the seats -- some half dozen of them.
They were set up on forks, some five feet high and
as many square with a bottom of timber thoroughly
covered with dirt. Fires were then built in the
middle of these scaffolds of dry wood, and thus a
good light was afforded to the whole congregation.
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The stand was furnished with candles.”""

Brush arbors were used by our brethren up until the
1930’s. The arrangement served well. Through such meet-
ings thousands of souls have been saved.

'w. C. Rogers, Recollections of Men of Faith, Rose-
mead, CA, Old Paths Book Club, (reprint), 1960.
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A PREACHER'S TRIP BY STAGE COACH - 1851

The following is an account of a stage coach trip from
Nashville to Chattanooga by Jesse B. Ferguson, preacher for
the church in Nashville and editor of the ““Christian Maga-
zine.”” Other brethren doubtless made many similar trips.
Ferguson later fell away from the faith.

““On New Year's night, in company with our beloved
brother Trott, | found myself taking leave of the dearest on
earth, to be jolted over frozen roads and mountain pass-
ways, in closely packed stage coaches for Chattanooga.
Nothing of special interest has marked our pilgrimage thus
far. -- We passed by the ordinary route to Augusta, and
were, amid ineffectual efforts at sleep, jostled and jolted
together for three nights in beautiful confusion, with the
ordinary complaints of weather, roads, and stages. The day
we reached the mountains we were met by a snow storm,
descending in its dreary, yet majestic silence, covering hill,
tree and road with its always to me welcome fleece. Even
the snow, however, did not prevent us from feeling the
peculiar sensations of wonder, not to say awe, that are
awakened so readily by the presence of these ‘‘great hills
of God.” Our eyes were arrested by rapid streams, tinged
with their turbid blue, murmuring and sometimes roaring
amid the rocks that impeded their way -- perpendicular
precipices, rising occasionally on either side -- extending
ridges, opening to our elevated vision as the snow would
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hold its intervals, the gigantic brotherhood of the large
family, of the Cumberland mountains, with their long piles
of crown-crested summits, divided by deep ravines and
stretching away in the fading distance of the north-east.
Nothing struck my attention so much as these beautiful
streams, flowing in their granite basins or over pearly
sand -- on, on to the all-absorbing river and ocean. The
steep sides of our narrow road would make us for a moment
feel how much our lives were in the hands of driver and
horses, depending upon the sobriety and skill of the one as
much as upon the faithfulness and tractability of the other.
Meanwhile the snow ceased to descend as the day wore
away, and the wind arose with wintry keenness to greet us
in its mountain homes. The night came out in beauty and,
though moonless, frequently invited my gaze upon its high
host of stars, glittering more brightly by reason of the hoar
carpet and frosty air below. We crossed the romantic Ten-
nessee in the night -- all my fellow-passengers asleep from
the fatigue of our mountain ride. | could not resist, icy and
chilling as were the winds, coming forth from our coach-
prison to look upon the scene. But little, however, engaged
my attention save the gloomy frowning of the mountains
around, in the dim light of stars, giving to their lofty peaks
most fantastic shapes, with their wreaths, formed of the
newly-fallen snow, hanging upon the boughs of their, as it
seemed, deep forests. Over hill after hill, we tumbled and
jostled, till our driver sang out with peculiar satisfaction --
‘“’Chattanooga!’’ Day had not yet dawned, and we were
destined to leave this notable place amid the dusky twi-
light of the morning. The shrill whistle of the steam-car,
announced the early hour of departure, as upon short-
backed chairs in a filthy bar-room, around a tremendous
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fire, our companions were bowing, not very gracefully, to
the tantalizing dreams of sleep. Safely ensconced in a dirty
car, amid fumes of tobacco, frying on a filthy stove, we
started for the sunny South.” !

'J. B. Ferguson, Christian Magazine, Vol. 3-4, 1850-
51, pp. 112-113.
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THE CHURCH IN JOHNSON CITY

The restored gospel was first preached in what is now
Johnson City shortly after the Civil War. Brother John T.
Wright was chosen superintendent of a union Bible School
being conducted in the Science Hill School building. This
provided him many contacts for the gospel. Wright preach-
ed at Science Hill on occasions as did W. C. Maupin, W. G.
Barker, J. M. Beckett, James Miller and J. R. Scott. The
first congregation was organized on November 12, 1871,
at the home of William H. Young. During the first year of
its existence, the congregation met on the first day of the
week, read a chapter in the book of Acts, had communion
and prayers.

Brother James Miller who started the church on
Boone’s Creek willed the church a building lot on Main
Street. A brick building fifty by thirty feet was erected.
It was dedicated on December 4, 1879 by brother Dexter
Snow of Wytheville, Virginia.

Brother W. C. Maupin was their minister during the
building period. Maupin was a cabinet maker by trade and
made the pulpit for the church.

By 1875 the church had forty members, three elders
and one deacon. That year the pay was $35 for preaching.

When Josephus Hopewood went to Buffalo Institute
in 1875 he became a frequent speaker for the church!
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'Copied from the old church record now in possession
of Mrs. G. R. Miller, Maryville, Tennessee, Route 1, as cited
in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper

East Tennessee, (Master’'s Thesis, University of Tennessee,
1943), pp. 85-88.
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THE CHURCH IN BRISTOL, SULLIVAN COUNTY

Early Christians in Bristol worshipped in the Virginia
part of the border town. The church began meeting in
Bristol on July 19, 1856. It made rapid growth and by the
turn of the century numbered about 400 members. A new
congregation was planted on the Tennessee side of town
August 9, 1903.
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THE BUFFALO CHURCH
CARTER COUNTY

It is believed that the church on Buffalo Creek in
Carter County began c.a. 1828. Milligan College now oc-
cupies the site of the old Buffalo church. Records show
that brother John Wright:

on the 24th day of June 1832 . . . united with the
congregation that brother Miller and others had
organized at Buffalo Creek . .. and was the same day
ordained by Elders James Miller and David Duncan.

In March of 1833 brother Wright wrote to Alexander
Campbell ‘“our congregation at Buffoloe (sic) Creek, Carter
County, in nine months has increased from about forty to
near one-hundred.”? Many of the first members of the
Buffalo Church came from the Sinking Creek Baptist
Church. As far back as November 14, 1824 there was con-
troversy in the Sinking Creek Church over the baptism of
Fanny Rentfro who was immersed by Jerial Dodge who
they noted ‘“‘is not of our union.” Eventually eight mem-
bers were excluded for “‘justifying the baptism of Fanny
Rentfro.”3 Sinking Creek Church divided over the teach-
ings of the Reformers. It is interesting that even the mem-
bers who stayed with the Baptist denomination were favor-
ably influenced. On October 15, 1831 the ‘‘church
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covenant was produced and read and it was motioned and
recorded that reference in it to the Philadelphia Confession
of Faith be expuged (sic) from the church covenant.”
Thereafter all church records are headed ‘‘The Church of
Christ on Sinking Creek.”*

In August of 1841 John Wright wrote:

On Friday following we commenced at Buffalo,
Carter Couty, and in two visits to that place we have
gained for the King fifty-three; a part of these from
the world, the rest from the Methodists, Baptists,
Lutherans, and one from the Universalists. This
church numbers one hundred and fifty members.
At Buffalo we had the assistance of brother James
Miller, from Washington County?

1 Biographical sketch of John Wright (McCown Collec-
tion), as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of
Christ in Upper East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University
of Tennessee, 1943), p. 59.

2 Alexander Campbell, Millennial Harbinger, Vol. 10,
May 1833, p. 237.

3Sinking Creek Baptist Church Records, pp. 85-94, as
quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), p. 61.

4 Ibid., p. 62.

5 Alexander Campbell, Millennial Harbinger, New Ser-
ies, Vol. 5, Dec. 1841, p. 590.

91




UNION CHURCH
WASHINGTON COUNTY

Yet another of the old churches is the Union Church
of Christ on Cherokee Creek in Washington County, Ten-
nessee. The first record of Restoration preaching in this
community was that of brother S. H. Millard who held a
meeting at Hartsell’s Mill. Brother Millard began preaching
July 20, 1845. Absolom Scott, Jacob Hyden, and lsaac
Hartsell, trustees for the church, for $6 purchased land on
which to erect a building. The first log building was erected
c.a. 1855. Jefferson Perkins gave the popular logs for the
building. The meeting house was used for worship and a
schoolhouse. In 1876 a brick structure was erected. The
bricks are said to have been made at the home of Isaac
Hartsell.

Among the early members of the Union Congrega-
tion were: Brother and Sister Jefferson Perkins and their
daughters, Eliza and Hanna; lIsaac Hartsell and family;
William Denton and family; Thomas Scott and family;
John and Daisey Boring; Absalom Scott; Uncle Billie
Walter and Samuel E. Feathers.

The elders were J. |. Scott, J. M. Beckett and Isaac
Hartsell. They did much of the local preaching.1

Near to the Union Church was the Cherokee Baptist
Church. On March 4, 1853 the following note was record-
ed in their minutes:
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Brother W. Andes and N. L. Hartsell were appointed
a committee to ascertain the names of those who had
gone off under excitement and united with the Camp-
bellites and to report the same to the church at the
next meeting, all of whom should be considered ripe
for exclusion at that time unless they should set
themselves right before the church?

On Friday, April 29, 1853 the record noted:

On motion expelled 11 for having gone off and unit-
ing with another people to wit - the Campbellites.
The names of those who have gone off are Jackson
Orr, Rebecca Orr, Hetta Orr, Rebecca Hartsell, Elvira
Laws, Francis Denny, Nancy Brumit, Elizabeth May,
Catharine Leach, Rebecca Hayes and Anna Hutchins?

"Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee, (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), pp. 63-65.

2 Records, Cherokee Baptist Church, p. 97, as quoted
in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper
East Tennessee (Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee,
1943), p. 66.

31bid., p. 67.
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THE LIBERTY CHURCH
JOHNSON COUNTY

It is thought that the Liberty Church of Christ in
Johnson County, Tennessee, began in 1835. A deed for
property was issued to the trustees of the church February
9, 1838. The title reads to:

Andrew Wilson, Stephen Jackson, James Blevins, and
John Minks, trustees and their successors one square
acre of land . . . for the purpose of building a meeting
house for divine worship for the Christian Baptists
and all other Christians that is in good standing in
their churches, is to have liberty to preach in said
house except on the days of appointments by the
above named baptists.

The deed was registered March 18, 1843 A log house
was raised and used as a union meeting house until after
the Civil War.

In 1841 John Wright, James |. Tipton, and David T.
Wright conducted a gospel meeting at the Liberty Church
which resulted in thirteen baptisms and two restorations.
The congregation numbered near eighty members at that
time? A brother Love preached at Union in 1851 and bap-
tized W. E. Johnson, Orphea Ann Johnson, Wm. H. Johnson

and Elizabeth Johnson3 A frame building was erected in
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1875. Among the early preachers at Liberty were H. H.
Tomison, J. R. Scott, and C. C. Coffee?

! Johnson County Deed Book |, p. 350, as quoted in
Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper
East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University of Tennessee,
1943), p. 68.

2Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee, (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), p. 68.

3|bid., pp. 68-69.

41bid., pp. 66-70.
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CONCORD CHURCH OF CHRIST
SULLIVAN COUNTY

This congregation began about 1842 in Sullivan
County, Tennessee. David T. Wright was her first preacher.?
When Frederick Weaver gave land for a meeting house and
graveyard, it came to be known as Weaver's Church?

Samuel H. Millard wrote:

The church was reorganized the 9th (of Aug. 1842) -
an organization had been formed here 20 years before
by Jerial Dodge . . . but was not in working order at
this time - 40 or more united during the 3 days meet-
ing. These and the former members constituted the
new organization.4

Samuel Millard was ordained at Weavers in 1845 and
preached once a month for that church for thirty-three
years. He kept it alive during the dark years of the Civil
War?

In 1844 Concord (Weaver’s) reported 109 members
with D. T. Wright as their proclaimer® Hall's Statistical
Register published in 1846 listed 170 members for Concord
with D. M. Buck as preacher.

In 1877 the log meeting house of the Concord
Church was wrecked by a tornado. The congregation then
began meeting in the Beach Forest Schoolhouse®
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10lian Taylor, Historic Sullivan, Bristol, TN: King
Printing Co. (1909), p. 182.

2|bid., p. 182.

3Sullivan County Deed Book 10, p. 4. June 21, 1823,
as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ
in Upper East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University of
Tennessee, 1943), p. 71.

4S. H. Millard, An address delivered July 1894 at
Weaver’'s Church celebrating Millard’s fiftieth year in the
ministry, as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disci-
ples of Christ in Upper East Tennessee (Master’'s Thesis,
University of Tennessee, 1943), p. 71.

S|bid., p. 72.

6The Christian Review, Vol. 1, No. IX, Sept. 1844,
Nashville, Letter from J. Wright, p. 168.

’As quoted in Mary H. McCown, Glimpses of Yester-
day’s Lights, p. 19.

8Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee, (Master’'s Thesis, University of
Tennessee, 1943), p. 75.
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TURKEY TOWN CHURCH
CARTER COUNTY

This congregation began in 1840. John Wright re-
ported to the Millennial Harbinger on Sept. 8, 1841:

On Friday before the second Lord’s day in August
last we held a four day’s meeting in Turkeytown, in
Carter County; and during the meeting five persons
confessed that Jesus is the Christ the Son of God,
and were planted together in the likeness of His
death. There have been some fifteen others added to
this congregation this season, and it now numbers
about ninety members.

This congregation first assembled at Thompson’s Meeting
House. When their meeting place burned near the end of
the Civil War, they constructed a nice brick building c.a.
1867. Trustees of the church were John Hendrix, Wm. B.
Campbell and Elkanah D. Range.2

Tradition says that a group of counterfeitors who
were pursuing their trade near the church hired a negro to
burn it. They feared the folks attending services might
stumble upon their operation.3

Another tradition says that when brethren were
ready to rebuild their building they could not agree on a

site. To resolve the matter, the leaders agreed to start each
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from his own home place and wherever they would chance
to meet, there they would erect their building. They met
at an old tree on the way and there they built their meeting
house?

Among the families worshipping at Turkeytown were

the Matterns, the Smallings, the Harts and the Persingers.5

' Alexander Campbell, Millennial Harbinger News
Items, New Series, Vol. V, (December, 1841), p. 590.

2Carter County Deed Book P, p. 453, as quoted in
Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper
East Tennessee, (Master’s Thesis, University of Tennessee,
1943), p. 78.

3 bid.
41bid., p. 79.

®|bid.
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THE CHURCH AT HAMPTON
CARTER COUNTY

The record book of the congregation says:

The church was organized at the home of W. M.
Snyder. The first preaching was at the homes of John Hill,
brothers D. T. Wright and J. |. Tipton in the year 1842.
Second Lord’s day in April, when Wm. Snyder, John Hill
and his father confessed Christ followed by others. We
then erected a house of worship, called it Mount Pleasant,
it was attended for about seven years by T. J. Wright as
paster (sic). Also with the aid of other ministers as helpers
as follows: S. H. Millard, (L.) A. Campbell, John Wright,
Jas. |. Tipton, and R. Ellis. From Mount Pleasant we moved
to Fishers Old Field where the church grew rapidly for a
season. After being here for some time the brethren moved
to a house on the Bank of Doe River near Hampton called
Locust Grove. Bros. W. G. Barker and T. J. Wright were
being here for Some time the House of worship was burned
to the ground, it has always been supposed by the liquor
interests.

'Carter County Deed Book P, p. 453, as quoted in
Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper
East Tennessee (Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee,
1943), p. 78.
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JOHN T. JOHNSON AND THE CHURCH
AT ATHENS, McMINN COUNTY, TENNESSEE

The first week of June 1844, brother John T. John-
son and brother J. N. Payne completed a meeting at Bar-
bourville, Kentucky, and prepared for a journey to the
village of Athens in McMinn County, East Tennessee. Find-
ing his horse too lame for the lengthy journey, brother
Johnson borrowed a fine mount from a brother Ballinger,
and the co-workers commenced their four-day ride through
the mountains and valleys to their destination.

Their hosts were a brother and sister Samuel who
operated an academy one mile from the village. A few
scattered Christians were located, as well as a few relatives
in the flesh. With this nucleus, announcements were sent
throughout the community that preaching would com-
mence on the morrow which was the Lord’s Day. For
eight days the two evangelists proclaimed the simple gospel
to those assembled; one preaching the lesson and the other
exhorting to obedience as was the method in those days.

Johnson wrote, ‘‘mountains of prejudices were re-
moved; the public mind was disabused and greatly concili-
ated . . .”” thirteen were won to the Restoration plea, one
of them being a prominent Baptist preacher.

A congregation of twenty-two was organized by the
end of their visit including two elders, an evangelist, and a
deacon. These were ordained by fasting, prayer, and the
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laying on of hands. A large audience gathered to witness
the birth of this church based on the New Testament
pattern.

Early on Monday morning, the little band assembled
for a final exhortation. Three were baptized. After prayers
of thanksgiving for their coming and petitions for God’s
care in their travels, the two men of God began their long
journey home.

They stopped at the church in the Republican com-
munity, some five miles south of Lexington to report on
their missionary journey. This congregation had financed
their trip, supplying $60.50 for their needs.

Johnson observed that, ‘‘the beautiful villages of East
Tennessee present the finest field for the labors of an able
evangelist.”’

John T. Johnson was the tireless missionary of the
Restoration Movement. No man exceeded him in travels
or in souls won to the Master. Prior to becoming a preach-
er, he had served two terms in the United States House of
Representatives. His brother, Richard, went on to be elect-
ed Vice-President of the Nation under President Martin
van Buren. John gave up his career in politics to preach
the gospel. Much of the time he did so at his own expense.
He supported his family through his farming enterprise.
He suffered hardship as a good soldier of Christ Jesus. He
won many to righteousness. We are his debtors.!

We regret that further information is not available
about this congregation and its progress in the gospel after
their departure. We marvel at the zeal and courage of these
early preachers in enduring incredible hardships to spread
the cause they loved. May we of today recapture their
spirit.
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1John Rogers, The Biography of Elder J. T. Johnson,
Nashville, Gospel Advocate (reprint), 1956, pp. 219-221.
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A STATISTICAL REPORT OF THE CHRISTIAN
CHURCHES IN EAST TENNESSEE FOR 1847

by Alexander Hall

The following information provides us a good picture
of the location and strength of the Lord’s work in East

Tennessee near the middle of the nineteenth century.

Itis

not likely that the information is complete, given the limi-
tations of communication and the fact that the project
originated in an Ohio paper which was far removed from
East Tennessee and had a very limited circulation in the

area.

Name of
Church

Popular Creek
Buffalo
Turkey Town
Mt Pleasant
Stoney Creek
Crab Orchard
Liberty
Roan’s Creek
Shaddy
Heath’s School
Little Doe
Vaughts
Meadow Fork
Spring Creek

No. of County

Mem.

15
186
118
50
21
25
80
51
42
17
21
58
34
50

Anderson
Carter
Carter
Carter
Carter
Carter
Johnson
Johnson
Johnson
Johnson
Johnson
Johnson
McMinn
McMinn

Preachers

Elder J. Wright
R. Ellis

M. Love

M. Love

104

Elders & Prominent
Members

S. Robins

J. Gourley

J. Curtis

J. Snyder

R. Underwood
S. Snyder

A. Wilson

L. Muckelyea
J. L. Blevins
J. Ohens

L. McLeyed
J. W. Williams
T. M. Roberts



N ame of No. of County Preachers
Church Mem.

Athens 33 McMinn G. T. Metcaff
Liberty Hill 80 McMinn John Jack
Pond Creek 12 McMinn

Post Oak Springs 75 Roane Wm. J. Owings
Concord 170 Sullivan D. M. Buck
Popular Ridge 73 Sullivan

Boone’s Creek 200 Washington Elder J. Miller
Keebler’'s 31 Washington J. Duncan
Limestone 12 Washington

Elders & Prominent
Members

C. P. Samuel

J. Thomas
J. Emeroy
B. Millard
S. Smith
J. Hurt

G. Jackson
J. Miller

Alexander Hall, editor, The Gospel Proclamation Devoted

to the Defence of the Faith and Practice of Primitive Chris-

tianity, St. Clairsville, Ohio, Vol. 1, 1847.
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LIBERTY CHURCH OF CHRIST
BLOUNT COUNTY

The church record book states:

The Church at Liberty in Blount County Tennessee
was established by Elder Matison (Madison) Love,
Dec. 25, 1850, Elders and deacons were appointed.
The two elders being John A. Hannah and John
McClever.!

It began with thirty-four members. On May 23,
1854, Andrew B. Shown gave them land for a building for
the consideration of $1.00. It was situated on Nine Mile
Creek, adjoining the lands of J. F. Garner, George Best,
and Frederick Best.

The first meeting house of the Liberty church was
made of logs with a large fireplace at one end. Among the
early preachers were a Dr. Lawson, Uncle Sam Willocks and
George Martin. In later years Ashley S. Johnson and a Dr.
Maddren, and John Davis, Jr. served the congregation.

This congregation adopted the instrument of music
and other innovations that divided the body of Christ?

' Copied from the old church record now in possession
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of Mrs. G. R. Miller, Maryville, Tennessee, Route 1, as cited
in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper
East Tennessee, (Master’s Thesis, University of Tennessee,
1943), p. 82.

2Claude Scott Richmond, editor, Christ in the Smok-
ies, a history of the Christian Churches, Churches of Christ
and related organizations in the Smokey Mountains area,
Seymour, Tennessee, Smokey Mountain Christian Minis-
terial Association, 1976, pp. 70-71.
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RAVEN’'S BRANCH CHURCH OF CHRIST
COCKE COUNTY

This rural church is likely the oldest congregation of
the Church of Christ still meeting in upper East Tennessee.

In the year 1865 four Christian families from Carter
County entered the rugged mountains of Cocke County and
purchased farms in the valleys above present day Hartford.
John and Sara Laws, James and Amanda Laws, Solomon
Rollins and his wife, and Isaac and Sara Green were the
beginning of the Lord’s Church at Raven’s Branch as well
as a large community of descendents.

As these pioneers carved out their farms in the wilder-
ness they did not forget their Lord. In 1866 a congrega-
tion was formerly organized by brother Lawson Maddron
and brother Jesse Baxter. They took the name Mt. Pleasant
Church of Christ. Services were held in the home of Solo-
mon Rollins.

It was 1874 when their first permanent place of wor-
ship was built. It was a log cabin on an elevated plot of
ground donated by Isaac Green.

The first elders appointed were John Potter and |saac
Green. The earliest known preachers for the church were
Lawson Maddron and Jesse Baxter.

By 1905 the congregation had grown to the point
that they were ready to erect a new building. The foun-
dation was laid on July 24, 1905. The building was
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dedicated on ‘““Easter Sunday, 1906, by brother Jasper Hay-
nes.”” At that time D. H. Laws was ordained to the elder-
ship. He also served as church secretary. Later W. R. Green
was appointed as an elder and J. H. Green and A. J. Miller
were installed as deacons.

Within a year a series of events began to transpire that
wrecked the congregation and almost destroyed it. In 1907
two lady missionaries from the ranks of the digressive
brethren moved into the community. Miss Viola Compton
and Estelle Donaldson came from Indiana with adequate
funds to build a nice school near the church building.
Osborne Ball and Charles Green, members of the church,
donated land for the school. Miss Donaldson soon returned
to her home state, but Viola Compton soon emerged not
only as head school mistress but also as the controlling force
in the little church. Evidently the elders felt themselves
powerless to put sister Compton in her scriptural place.
Elder D. H. Laws resigned his post in 1912 and elder W. R.
Green withdrew fellowship and left the congregation in
1913. Upon this, an elected board of three elders and three
deacons were selected to work with Miss Viola.

The church record book reveals the extent of her
usurpation. On May 8, 1914, the ledger notes that Victoria
Justice was ‘‘baptized by Viola Compton.”” On February
24, 1918, Carl Mooneyham was baptized by her hands. On
August 6, 1921 Miss Viola was appointed to the eldership
along with Osborne Ball, Andrew Miller, Noah Baxter, and
William Davis. ‘‘Miss Compton operated the church up
until 1930, ... doing the preaching and baptizing, appoint-
ing the elders and deacons and hiring Christian Church
preachers.”” One cannot but be amazed that those rugged
mountain men allowed that lady school teacher to wrest
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control of God’s church from their hands. Most of them
would have tracked down a bear that had bothered their
stock or chopped down the giant tree that overshadowed
their crops, but for some unknown reason they did not
challenge the lady school marm.

When failing health forced Miss Compton to return to
Indiana in 1930, apostasy had run its course. ‘‘Baptists,
Holiness, and other denominational preachers preached
here until the year of 1941. Then the church doors were
closed for a few months.”

In the early years the church experienced some re-
markable revival meetings. In August of 1921 John Shep-
herd preached for two weeks and saw thirty-five baptisms,
five received by statement and nine reclaimed. In the fall
of 1928 J. W. Edwards conducted a meeting resulting in
fifty-eight baptisms and seven won from the Baptists. In
June of 1932 J. Spencer Holland preached and had forty-
two baptisms, eight reclaimed and four received by state-
ment. This wonderful receptivity of the community con-
tinues to be seen. In 1983 James Jones and Charlie Shipley
conducted a great meeting which had thirty-one responses
including fourteen baptisms and seventeen restorations.
Such response is rare in our worldly age.

A NEW BEGINNING

In the year 1941 when the nation entered World War
II, five men met and pledged themselves to restore the
Raven’s Branch Church to the divine pattern of God’s Word.
Brothers Swan Green, Robert Green, Noah Baxter, Belvin
Rollins, and Roy A. Laws led the way back to the Bible.
Preachers who helped them in those early days were
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J. Edward Nowlin, G. F. Gibbs, Charles Shipley and J. D.
Boyd, the latter two men being from Newport.

In September 1943 Swan Green, Robert Green, Fred
Rollins, and Roy A. Laws were appointed elders. The
membership soon grew to 100. In 1947 a Warranty Deed
was filed at the county court house which stated that they
used only what is required in the New Testament in their
work and worship and rejected all the inventions and de-
vices of men, such as the use of the instrumental music in
worship and missionary societies in carrying out the work
of the church.

Schism and division have hampered the congregation
across the years. In 1953 there was an extended contro-
versy regarding the preacher, brother Milton Parker. For
awhile it looked as though the church would divide, but the
elders were able to resolve the problem and restore the
unity of the body.

Under the leadership of elders Roy A. Laws and
Robert Green, the present cement block meeting house was
erected. |t continues to serve the congregation to this day.

In 1975 new elders were appointed for the church.
The preacher then employed, made an issue of opposing
church cooperation and benevolent homes. This blighted
the church and caused some of the members to scatter to
other congregations.

Fortunately for the church, brother Earl Green came
to be their preacher in 1983. Brother Green is a direct
descendent from |Isaac Green, one of the founding members.
He understands the people and the needs of the congrega-
tion and is providing competent, scriptural leadership. The
last vestiges of the ‘“anti’’ group finally pulled out forming
a new congregation whose trademark is ‘‘one-cup’’ in
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communion.
The future looks bright for Raven’s Branch, a con-
gregation that died and lives again.

The above information is compiled from the church
records in the possession of Earl Green, Minister, Raven's
Branch Church of Christ.
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ROCKWOOD CHRISTIAN CHURCH
ROANE COUNTY

This congregation began in 1868 the same year the
Roane County Iron Company began to operate. On June
10, 1868 brother J. H. Acuff of the Post Oak Springs
Church preached in a saw mill shed at the Iron Works. ‘‘He
stood behind the head block and the congregation sat on
the log carriage.”” Services were continued through the
summer. Reggs Forsythe, superintendent of the Iron Com-
pany, conducted a Sunday School for children. He led the
little group in constructing a building known as ‘“the Frame
Church.”” Brother Acuff preached for the first year. After
him came J. H. Denton. Denton supported himself by
teaching school in Rockwood. The first permanent meeting
house was built in 1885 on a lot purchased from Captain
J. W. C. Wilson. B. F. Clay preached the dedication sermon.

Among the early members at Rockwood was W. J.
Owings and wife, Mrs. T. J. Brown, Mrs. J. F. Tarwater,
Mr. and Mrs. J. B. Smith, Annie Billingsley and Mr. and Mrs.
J. C. Hinds, Miss Rella Hinds, Mrs. J. A. Irvin, Mrs. F. D.
Owings and William Ragen.

J. H. Denton served the church as minister from
1885-1887. He was followed by James Billingsley, Jr.

On November 30, 1894 the meeting house was de-
stroyed by fire. A larger and nicer building was erected in
1895.
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The organ was introduced into the Rockwood Church
in 1915 when their building was remodeled. |t was a gift
of Mrs. Sewell Howard and Mrs. J. F. Tarwater.!

1Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee, (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), pp. 120-123.
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THORN GROVE CHRISTIAN CHURCH
KNOX COUNTY

The first congregation in Knox County Tennessee
was the Thorn Grove Christian Church. This congregation
was organized in 1869 by Dr. L. R. Lawson, who also
pioneered the work in Blount County. Among the first
members at Thorn Grove were John Adcock, W. T. Adcock,
W. B. Smith, and W. T. Pilant.! Lawson converted Gilmore
Randolph and W. B. Smith who were preachers of other
communities. They provided added leadership to the
church.

Over the years, a number of men went forth from the
Thorn Grove Church to preach the gospel. Among them
were William T. Smith, J. P. Smith, W. A. Adcock, Adam K.
Adcock, John Adcock, Kenneth Adcock, Ronald Waggoner,
and Robert Emmert.

John Adcock taught and baptized Ashley S. Johnson
who went on to become East Tennessee’s most notable
preacher in the last half of the nineteenth century. He
authored a number of outstanding books and founded the
College of Evangelists, now known as Johnson Bible College.

This congregation was numbered with those who
chose to walk the new paths, using instruments of men in
worship and the work of the Master. [t is now associated
with the Independent Christian Churches?
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1Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee, (Master’'s Thesis, University of
Tennessee, 1943), pp. 109, 110.

2Claude Scott Richmond, Christ in the Smokies, A
History of the Christian Churches/Churches of Christ, and
Related Organizations in the Smokey Mountain area, Sey-
mour, Harry Hamilton, Tri-County News, 1976, pp. 97-99.
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VALLEY FORGE CHURCH OF CHRIST
CARTER COUNTY

This congregation was organized November 9, 1872
by brother L. A. Campbell. Charles Headrick and John
Grindstaff were her first elders; David Chambers and Wm.
G. Bowers were the first deacons. John B. Williams was the
clerk and Elijah Williams was secretary and treasurer.

On the day of their organization the brethren drew
up and signed this statement:

We the undersigned Disciples of our Lord and Saviour
Jesus Christ do the 9th Day of November, 1872
mutually agree to take the Bible as our man (sic) of
council it being the only bond by which Christian
union can be perpetuated and promoted as it is the
only infallible rule both for faith and practice.

'Data from the church record in possession of Paul
Hendrick, Valley Forge, Tennessee, as quoted in Harry C.
Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper East Ten-
nessee (Master’'s Thesis, University of Tennessee, 1943),
p. 80.
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JONESBORO CHRISTIAN CHURCH

On February 5, 1873 John F. Grisham deeded to
““George E. Grisham one of the elders of the Christian
Church in Jonesboro’’ a lot for the church! Later that year
on August 3, the same George Grisham willed “to the Chris-
tian Church of Jonesboro, Washington County, Tennessee,
lately organized without any creed but the Bible,”’ a lot and
building to be used in educating young men of said church
for the ministry.2

Wilson G. Barker was an early preacher for this
church and helped to get her meeting house built. Barker
also ran a school called Martin’s Academy on the property
willed by brother George Grisham. When the school build-
ing burned the project failed>

'Deed Book No. 43, Washington County, Tennessee,
p. 456, as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples
of Christ in Upper East Tennessee (Master's Thesis, Uni-
versity of Tennessee, 1943), p. 107.

2will Book, No. 2, Washington County, Tennessee,
p. 285, as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples
of Christ, etc., p. 107.

3Wagner, History of Disciples, pp. 107-108.
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THE OLD FORT CHURCH OF CHRIST
POLK COUNTY, TENNESSEE

It was customary in the 1800’s for a church to have
a recording secretary whose job it was to keep an ongoing
diary and history of the congregation. In those cases where
we are able to locate these records, we are able to recon-
struct a good account of the life and work of that particular
congregation.

Such a record has been preserved about the early
days of the Old Fort Church which was located a few miles
east of Cleveland in Polk County, Tennessee.

The following lengthy quote is from the first two
pages of the Church’s record book:

““The congregation of Christ at brother Groomes’
was organized on the 13th day of September, 1873.
Some of the members going into the organization had
previously been members of the Baptist Church and
presenting letters of commendation or by personal
acquaintance.

“In coming together as a congregation of Christ,
having already been immersed upon a profession of
our faith in the Lord Jesus Christ as the only begot-
ten Son of God, we declare it to be our full purpose
and determination to acknowledge no leader but
Christ, no infallible teachers but the appostles (sic)
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and prophets and no articles of Belief-but the old
and new Testaments, the New Testament as contain-
ing our faith and the rules of our behavior as Chris-
tians.

““Regarding all Protestants as building upon
human opinions, equally with the Appostles’ (sic)
testimony, in many instances making void the word
of god (sic), by their traditions and being ‘resolved
to stand perfect in the knowledge and practice of the
revealed will of god’ (sic), also regarding the church
as built upon the foundation of the apostles and
prophets-Jesus Christ himself being the chief corner
stone and it being the duty the honor and the hapi-
ness (sic) of the church to preserve the unity of the
spirit in the bonds of peace there being but one body
and one spirit (sic), one hope, one lord, one faith,
one Baptism, one god (sic) and father of all.

““We have declared before god (sic) and to one an-
other that we are determined to do the whole will of
god (sic) as far as we can understand it, to bear with
one another when we differ in matters of opinions,
to contend only and earnestly for the faith once de-
livered to the saints, to be ever valient (sic) for the
truth and to walk in obedience to the lord alone as
our prophet, priest and king.

““Then giving ourselves to the lord and to one an-
other by the will of god (sic) we have agreed to work
together as members of the family of god (sic) under
the Government of the prince of peace to whom be
honor Everlasting. Amen.

“The original members of the organization were:
Samuel Yates, Daniel Groomes, Sarah Groomes, Mary
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T. Yates, John E. Griffith, Mary L. Griffith, Nancy
Griffith, Letty Frazier, Melissa Jane White, and John
S. Waters.”’

Five of the charter members were previously mem-
bers of ‘“‘the Christian Church.”” Remember the names
Christian Church and Church of Christ were used inter-
changeably in these days. John and Mary Griffith, Letty
Frazier, and John Waters had been members of the Baptist
denomination. It was not uncommon in those early days
for those who had been immersed as Baptists to be received
as members of the church when they were prepared to leave
their religious error behind them and follow the Bible alone.
Later this practice was challenged. Brother Austin McGary
began the Firm Foundation paper in Texas to oppose the
practice of the southern brethren of ‘“‘shaking in the Bap-
tists”’ - to use McGary’s terminology. It would be rare
today to find a preacher or church who would do so.

Melissa White was the first person baptized at Old
Fort Church. Brother Samuel Yates, Daniel Groomes, and
John and Mary Griffith were later excluded; i.e., disfellow-
shipped.

Other members who were soon added were: Elize
Ford and Elizabeth Ford came with a commendation from
the Baptist church on the second Lord’s Day in October
1873. Caroline McCissic (McKissic) was received by letter
on the second Lord’s Day in November 1873. Ann Hilliar
came from the Baptists on the second Lord’s Day in May
1874 as did Harriett Grooms.

Brother I. S. McCash conducted a gospel meeting be-
ginning the first Lord’s Day in August 1876. It continued
for eight days. Baptized were Jesse Grooms, Emily Stilwell,
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William Waters, Louiza Waters, Mary Higgins, Jane Ford,
and Ella White. Received by transfer were John L. Pearce
from the Methodists, Avery Frazier and Nimrod J. Ford
from the Baptists. Brother Pearce was later excluded.

Sister Caroline McKissic was granted a letter of com-
mendation the second Sunday of August 1876. In those
days it was common in all churches to issue letters of com-
mendations to all members in good standing who removed
to other locations. They looked to Paul’s words in |l
Corinthians about letters of commendation and the letter
he wrote for sister Phoebe to the Church at Rome (Romans
16:1-5).

Miss Virginia Fitzsimmons was added by baptism the
first Sunday of July 1877.

Another gospel meeting was conducted by brother
I. S. McCash beginning the first Lord’s Day of October
1877. Fourteen were baptized into Christ. Those won
were: John A. and Amanda Burns, Easter Grooms, George
and Sarah Burns, Susan, Sarah E., Martha J. and Tilman
Burns, John Masters, Emily McCash, John and Sarah Shel-
ton, and Charles Fitzsimmons.

Easter Grooms and George Burns were later excluded.

On Saturday before the first Lord’s Day in November
1877, the brethren met at the home of brother John S.
Waters and appointed elders and deacons. Those selected
to be elders were A. McCash, J. S. Waters, and J. E. Griffith.
Those chosen to be deacons were John Shelton, Filmore
Burns, and John G. Williams. Williams resigned three years
later.

A fascinating page of history is found on page 9,
dated Saturday, August 17, 1878. The menfolk of the
church met at brother A. McCash’s and proceded to clean
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house. We quote from the record
.. . it being proved that the walk of brother
John Masters continued to be disorderly after prom-
ising to walk orderly and not in anywise keeping the
promise, the church withdrew fellowship from him
and also at the same time and place on account of a
disorderly walk on the part of brother Charles Fitz-
simmons, the Church withdrew fellowship from him.
““Also same time and place . .. on account of dis-
orderly walk on the part of John C. Plemmons and
Poly Plemmons the church withdrew from them.
“Also same time and place above written on ac-
count of brother Samuel Yates marrying a harlot
woman so called and proved by her works, him being
a widower and not marrying in the Lord and lying
both which are forbidden by the law of God. The
church withdrew fellowship from him.

On the positive side, at the same meeting the church
received brother Henry E. Williams by commendation into
the fellowship of the church.

Thus ends our brief record. We wish there was more
information such as the above to give us a real life glimpse
into the life of a sister congregation a century ago.

Information supplied by Joe E. Kerr.
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KNOXVILLE - THE EARLY DAYS

General James White established the village of Knox-
ville in 1791. White had moved to the region from North
Carolina around 1786. His first home was a log cabin
situated on what is now State Street. The village with its
fort served as a frontier military outpost and a trading post.

The General laid off sixty-four lots each approximate-
ly half an acre in size. Streets were laid out in squares with
two acres between them. The boundaries of the new town-
ship reached from present day Front Avenue on the South
to Church Avenue on the North and from Central Street
on the East to Walnut Street on the West. A raffle took
place for the plots of ground. The results were published
in the Knoxville Gazette which was published at Rogers-
ville.

An addition was made to the town in 1795. It was
known as White’s First Addition and consisted of fifty-six
lots. It added territory west and northward. The new
section was bounded by our Front Avenue on the South,
Clinch on the North, Central on the East, and Henley on
the West.

Colonel John Williams laid out another addition in
1816 which he named Williamsburg. This section was
bounded by the Holston River on the South, Main Avenue
on the North, by Henley Street on the East, and by Second
Creek on the West.
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Knoxville was named for General Henry Knox who
served as Secretary of War in the Cabinet of President
George Washington. It served as the seat of government for
the “Territory South of the Ohio River’”” from 1792-1796.
When the state of Tennessee was organized in 1796, Knox-
ville served as the state capital until 1817.

Knoxville was founded by Scottish Presbyterians and
for several years, the Presbyterian Church was the only
church in the town. The Second Presbyterian Church was
organized in 1817. Then came the Church Street Methodist
Church, the First Baptist Church, and St. John’s Episcopal
Church in 1846. A New Testament congregation was not
established in the city until 1869 although there were a few
rural congregations and an occasional preacher such as
W. D. Carnes who came to Knoxville first as a student at the
university and later as its president.

In the mid 1800’s Knoxville relied on stage coaches
and other horse-drawn vehicles for its transportation. A
major artery was the Cumberland Road that ran from Nash-
ville to Washington. |t is our present Cumberland Avenue
and Kingston Pike. The road was unpaved, dusty in the
summer and a quagmire in the winter. Another thorough-
fare ran from Nashville through Kingston to Knoxville,
then eastward to Asheville and Raleigh, North Carolina.
It too was unpaved. Still another highway ran south from
Knoxville to Dalton, Georgia. Stages operated regularly
on those roads.

In 1850 Knoxville had a stone courthouse which was
stuccoed, a brick jail, a bank, two Presbyterian, a Methodist
and a Baptist Church. Each had nice buildings. There were
the Knoxville Female Academy and East Tennessee College.
The college had the finest buildings in the western country.
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With those schools, Knoxville was considered a center of
learning. The city had fifteen stores, a bookstore, a drug
store, three taverns, twenty-five lawyers, five doctors, five
preachers, three printing shops, two weekly newspapers,
three common schools, two spinning factories, and two
cotton gins. There were three saw mills and four grist mills.
There were a brass foundry, a tinner, and a coppersmith.
Two coach makers and two wagon makers were in business
along with six blacksmith shops. There were five tanneries,
six saddle makers, and eight shoe makers. There were three
hatter shops.

With all of its advantages, Knoxville needed the
gospel preached to her citizens in its pure apostolic simpli-
city. Up to this point, they had mainly heard only de-
nominational versions of the religion of Jesus.

Information gleaned from A History of One Hundred
Years of St. John’s Episcopal Church in Knoxville, Ten-
nessee, 1846-1946, compiled and edited by Charles M.
Seymour, published by The Vestry of St. John’s Parrish,
Knoxville, 1947.
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STRANGE HAPPENINGS AT KNOXVILLE

At the turn of the century, religious revival broke out
all over the western frontier of Kentucky, Tennessee and
the Carolinas. Powerful preachers who preached with great
emotion and enthusiasm struck terror in the hearts of sin-
ners with sermons on hell and damnation. As the religious
ferver and excitement swept through the populace, a strange
phenomena was commonly observed, which they called
““the jerks.”’

Lorenzo Dow, an itinerant Methodist preacher, noted
in his journal his experiences while preaching in East Ten-
nessee. Because it adds a bit of color to the religious history
of our area, we will note some of Dow’s observations. He
notes:

| had heard about a singularity called the jerks or
jerking exercise, which appeared first near Knoxuville
in August last (1803), to the great alarm of the peo-
ple . . . | set out to go and see for myself and sent
over these appointments into this county accordingly.
When | arrived in sight of this town, | saw hundreds
of people collected in little bodies, and observing no
place appointed for meeting, before | spoke to any,
| got on a log and gave out a hymn; which caused
them to assemble around, in solemn attentive silence.
| observed several involuntary motions in the course
of the meeting, which | considered a specimen of
the jerks.’’
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The next day he spoke at Sevierville. He wrote:

’’| began to speak to a vast audience, and | observed
about thirty to have the jerks. Though they strove
to keep still as they could, these emotions were in-
voluntary and irresistable . . ."”

He then rode to Maryville.

... Where | spoke to about one thousand five hun-
dred; and many appeared to feel the word, but about
fifty felt the jerks.”

On Sunday, February 19, he spoke in Knoxville:

““to hundreds more than could get into the court-
house, the governor being present.”” About one hun-
dred and fifty appeared to have the jerking exercise.

He noted that in powerful cases of the jerks, the per-
son would ‘“grunt or groan when they would jerk."”

““| have seen Presbyterians, Methodists, Quakers, Bap-
tists, Episcopalians, and Independents exercised with
the jerks -- gentleman and lady, black and white, the
aged and the youth, sick and poor without exception;
. . . | believe that those who are most pious and given
up to God are rarely touched with it, and also those
naturalists who wish and try to get it to philosophize
upon it are excepted. But the lukewarm, lazy, half-
hearted, indolent professor is subject to it... Again,
the wicked are frequently more afraid of it than the
smallpox or yellow fever; they are subject to it. But
the persecutors are more subject to it than any; and
they sometimes have cursed, and swore, and damned
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it whilst jerking.”

| passed by a meeting house, where | observed the
undergrowth had been cut up for a camp meeting and
from 50 to 100 saplings left breast-high which to me
appeared so slovenish that | could not but ask my
guide the cause, who observed they were topped so
high and left for the people to jerk by. This so ex-
cited my attentions that | went over the ground to
view it, and found where the people had laid hold of
them and jerked so powerfully that they had kicked
up the earth as a horse stomping flies.”’ !

Today we recognize what he called the jerks as a
symptom of religious hysteria that can be wrought up in the
minds of those who are taught to expect such reactions as
manifestations of God’s Holy Spirit at work. Of course,
such is not the work of God. The Bible knows nothing of
such actions. Nevertheless, this is a fascinating piece of our
East Tennessee religious history. It was on the crest of this
Great Revival that Barton Stone launched his back to the
Bible movement.

' Lorenzo Dow, Travels and Labors of Lorenzo Dow,
New York, Richard C. Valentine, 1855, pp. 132-134.
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W. D. CARNES
PIONEER PREACHER IN KNOXVILLE

One of the first men to preach the Restoration mes-
sage in Knoxville was W. D. Carnes. Carnes excelled as a
gospel minister and educator, but for our study, his associ-
ation with the University of Knoxville is of great interest.

William Davis Carnes was born in Lancaster district,
South Carolina, in 1805. His parents were Alexander and
Mary Davis Carnes. When he was four his family moved
to McMinnville, Tennessee, where his father operated a
general merchandise store. The elder Carnes was robbed
and murdered while on a business trip to South Carolina.

Most of the family’s estate was mishandled and lost
by the guardian. William’s mother bought a farm in Ruther-
ford County whereon he and a younger brother were raised?

Young Carnes learned to read before he went to
school. He was fortunate that there was a good school near
his home and he eagerly absorbed all the knowledge within
his reach. He was the champion speller of his school. He
allotted regular hours for reading and consumed all the
books available in his neighborhood. ‘‘He often studied
by the light of cedar torches’” in the late hours of the
night3

William was raised in the Presbyterian faith of his
mother but at age eighteen while teaching at Woodbury,
Tennessee, he heard the gospel of the New Testament
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preached by a brother Abner Hill. He accepted it immedi-
ately and began preaching within the year. He was trained
under Dr. William Jordan and Abner Hill. As was typical
in those days, he traveled with them as an apprentice? His
mother and brother followed his godly example and were
soon baptized.

At his second speaking appointment, a large crowd
of people were present who opposed the gospel he preach-
ed. He was intimidated, lost his confidence, and failed
miserably. Later he remarked that he had needed such an
experience to save him from vanity.

Carnes made a preaching tour into the mountains of
East Tennessee and the Sequatchie Valley. The denomi-
national churches refused him use of their meeting houses,
so he preached in private homes with much success?®

In 1826 Carnes married Elizabeth Billingsly whom
he had earlier converted. He bought a farm and a mill near
Pikeville, Tennessee, and proceeded to raise a family® Soon
he enjoyed a good measure of prosperity. Later, he was
elected to one term as a Justice of the Peace.’

Brother Carnes was one of the first promoters of the
African Colonization Society which founded the Nation of
Liberia and sought to abolish slavery by sending the Negroes
back to Africa. He actively supported this project with his
influence, his money and his words?8

Professor James Garvin of the East Tennessee Univer-
sity at Knoxville urged Carnes to improve himself by attend-
ing the university. When his plans were made known, his
brother-in-law told him he was a fool to give up his lucrative
business to go to school? But, he was not deterred. William
rode his horse 95 miles to Knoxville to survey the situation
before moving his family. While in the city, he was
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wandering through the streets and got lost. He stopped at
a tailor’s shop to ask directions. Because he was dressed
in his work jeans, the tailor snubbed him. Later, as he was
traveling home on his fine white horse, he overtook the
same tailor walking on the muddy road. He paused to chat,
but the man did not recognize him. The tailor asked about
job opportunities to the west. Carnes reminded him of the
snubbing he had received, but gave the fellow a ride on his
horse. When they parted paths, the tailor asked permission
to take his measurements. To his surprise, when Carnes
arrived in Knoxville, a fine suit of clothes was waiting for
him at the post office.!®

Carnes matriculated at age thirty-five. He completed
his B. A. program in three years and his M. A. two years
later. Upon receipt of his undergraduate degree he was
elected principal of the preparatory department of the
school and following the reception of his Master’s degree
he was appointed Professor of English. While at the uni-
versity, Carnes was nicknamed ‘“‘Old Pap’’ because a son
and two daughters were enrolled in school with him.’

His years in Knoxville were not totally consumed
with his school work. There was no Church of Christ in the
city, but he preached to the congregations in the surround-
ing rural areas. He often spoke for the Baptist Church in
Knoxville and occasionally at a Presbyterian Church.'?

While a student at the university, Carnes took a
survey and found two other New Testament Christians.
They began to meet together for devotions and Bible study.
Other students learned of their meetings and ridiculed them.
Some of the students called for an investigation and de-
manded that the meetings be stopped. At their third ses-
sion ““a mob of hooting, swearing students came storming
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into the entrance hall, a fiddle twanged, and a dance, punc-
tuated by the stomping of heavy heels, made the building
resound.”” The uproar lasted over an hour. The three Chris-
tians waited silently. When the agitators gave out, they
closed their devotional meeting with a prayer. The harass-
ment continued for several days before the perpetrators
grew weary. Soon, other students joined in the spiritual
exercises and eventually the majority of the campus was in
attendance. One day as they were worshipping, the leader
of the agitators asked to speak. With sobbing voice, he
apologized and asked for their prayers. This sparked a great
revival among the students.

The area across the river from the university was so
wild and primitive that it was called ““South America.”
Carnes and his band of students undertook to evangelize
the rough citizens of that community. They started a
Sunday School in a tumbled down log school house and en-
joyed great success in their work '3

In 1850 brother Carnes was elected President of Bur-
ritt College in Spencer, Tennessee. For eight years he filled
that post with honor and success. Burritt College was own-
ed by the local citizens. Under the leadership of Carnes,
the school came to have a distinct religious atmosphere.
The Scripture was read with prayer at the opening and
closing of each school day. Each Lord’s day a congregation
assembled at the school for worship and Carnes taught a
Bible class which his students were expected to attend. He
also conducted a mid-week prayer meeting!* When a small
group of students and two trustees petitioned brother
Carnes to abandon his religious program for the school, he
immediately wrote out his resignation rather than concede.
The board refused his resignation and he continued his
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practice.!®

As President of Burritt, brother Carnes implemented
two educational concepts new for schools in the South;
co-educational classes and physical education. He model-
ed the curriculum after that of the University at Knox-
ville6

Faced with the problem of students using alcoholic
beverages, Carnes expelled all who were found so doing.
He also successfully lobbied the state legislature to pass a
state-wide prohibition ordinance which forbade selling
whiskey within four miles of a chartered school except in
incorporated cities.

Carnes’ success against the liquor interests stirred a
great deal of local hostility and in October of 1857 his
house was burned. |t was generally thought to be an act
of retaliation.!’

Upon the loss of his home, Carnes resigned and ac-
cepted the Presidency of East Tennessee University in
Knoxville. The trustees of the school had voted unani-
mously to invite him. Before accepting their invitation,
he exacted two pledges from them: that they would build
a gymnasium and that no liquor would be allowed on the
campus. His administration began in the fall of 1858 and
lasted only one year. Two things contributed to his move.
In 1859 his wife of thirty-three years died. This, along
with the serious illness of two of his children, left him
broken in spirit. That same year a group of leading mem-
bers of the church met at Franklin, Tennessee, and elected
him president of a proposed university to be established by
Christians.’® In the end the group purchased Tolbert Fan-
ning’s Franklin College in Davidson County and Carnes
took the reins. The school showed great prospects for
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success under his capable leadership, but all was shattered
by the Civil War. The school closed for lack of students
and Carnes moved back to Pikeville'®

He continued his educational work until his death,
serving as president of Manchester College, with a second
term at Burritt and a final stint at Waters and Walling
College at McMinnville. Death came to this grand Christian
leader November 26, 1879. He was buried at Spencer be-
side his mother20

W. D. Carnes loved the Bible, and he loved to study
and teach it. ‘““He believed that a knowledge of the Bible
was necessary to an all-round practical education, and he
believed that the principles of the Bible were essential in
developing character and making manly men.” 2’

Doubtless much gospel seed was sown in and around
Knoxville by brother W. D. Carnes when he lived in the
city. A later generation reaped the harvest of his work.

'M. N. Young, A History of Colleges Established and
Controlled by Members of the Churches of Christ (Kansas
City, MO: The Old Paths Book Club, 1949), pp. 53-54.

2 |bid., p. 54.

3Miss Ivey Carnes, Biographical Sketch of President
W. D. Carnes in James E. Scobey, Franklin College and It’s
Influence (Nashville: Gospel Advocate Co., 1954), p. 204.

4H. Leo Boles, Biographical Sketches of Gospel
Preachers (Nashville: Gospel Advocate Co., 1932), p. 121.
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51bid., p. 121.

6 Carnes, Biographical Sketch Scobey, p. 205.

"Young, History of Colleges, p. 54.

8 Jim Carnes, Memoir of W. D. Carnes, Beaumont, TX
Pub. by G. G. Carnes, 1926.

% bid.
19 1bid.
" Young, pp. 54-55.
2 |bid., p. 55.
13 Carnes.

4 Young, History of Colleges, p. 55.

15 Carnes, Ivey, pp. 207-208.
6 Young, p. 56.

7 Carnes, Memoir of W. D. Carnes.

8 Young, p. 58.

19 Carnes, Biographical Sketch Scobey, pp. 207-208.

20 Carnes, Ivey, pp. 212-213.

21 Boles, Biographical Sketches of Gospel Preachers,
pp. 123-124.
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KNOXVILLE DURING THE WAR YEARS

On the eve of the Civil War, Knoxville was a robust
town 66 years old. Its population numbered some 6,000.
Seven churches served the spiritual needs of the population
and three banks took care of her financial reserves. There
was a various assortment of shops and stores and several
manufacturing businesses. Two newspapers kept the citi-
zens informed, the Register, edited by a Mr. Sperry, champ-
ioned the cause of the Southerners who wanted to secede
from the Union. The Knoxville Whig, edited by Parson
William G. Browlow, militantly preached loyalty to the
Union.

Knoxville was proud of the University of East Ten-
nessee which was rapidly gaining distinction as a center of
learning. She was also home for the State Asylum for the
deaf and dumb.

The East Tennessee and Georgia Railroad stretched
from Knoxville to Chattanooga and Dalton, Georgia on the
South. Another rail line connected Knoxville to Lynch-
burg, Virginia to the East. A new rail line was under con-
struction that was to reach North to Cincinnati. The stage
road led to Nashville, some 200 miles to the West.

The climate and terrain of East Tennessee made it
unsuitable for cotton growing. Therefore, there were fewer
slaves in the region than in the Middle and West sections of
the state.
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When the state held an election in 1861 to decide
whether or not to join the secession, the vote failed by a
count of 70,000 against and 50,000 for so doing. Only
two of the thirty counties of East Tennessee voted yea.
Governor Harris then called a special session of the Legis-
lature which declared an ordinance of separation from the
Federal Government and of representation in the Confeder-
ate Congress at Richmond to be voted on in a referendum.
The vote to secede won, but East Tennessee opposed the
move by a vote of 33,000 to 18,300.

Sensing the Union sympathies of the Eastern Coun-
ties, Confederate troops were quickly moved into the region
to secure it for the South. Conflict between the local citi-
zens exploded in hostility, persecution, and violence.

Union sympathizers were frequently brought before
courts and charged with disloyalty. |f they were fortunate,
they were forced only to take an oath of loyalty and made
to pay court costs. Others not so fortunate were hauled
away to detention camps.

Even religious leaders were not exempt from the
abuses of the day. William H. Duggan, a Methodist circuit
rider of Athens, was arrested at a religious meeting. His
captors marched him to Knoxville, refusing to let him ride
his horse. Being a large man, weighing some 280 pounds,
he suffered greatly from the march. When his feet blister-
ed and he gave out from the heat and exhaustion, his op-
pressors cursed and threatened him with bayonets. He
was refused food and water until they reached their desti-
nation. The charge lodged against Duggan was that he had
prayed for the Government of the United States. The
charges were dropped.

Mr. Perry Dickinson, a 30-year resident of Knoxville

138



and a successful merchant, was arrested on charges that he
was a native of Massachusetts and had recently been North
and talked with Northern people. When he declined to take
the oath to support the Confederacy, he was required to
post a $10,000 bond and leave the state within a week.

Churches were not exempt from the fever and hys-
teria of the day. Clergymen who sympathized with the
South would call the names of Union neighbors in their
public prayers and denounce their reported disloyalty.
Pastor Martin, of the Second Presbyterian Church in Knox-
ville prayed that the Honorable Horace Maynard, who was
in Washington, might never again press his traitorous feet
on the soil of Tennessee. Maynard was an elder of his
church and his wife was in the audience. Rev. Harrison of
the First Presbyterian Church in Knoxville ‘’‘boasted in his
pulpit that Jesus Christ was a Southerner, born on Southern
soil, and so were his apostles, except Judas, whom he de-
nominated a Northern man!” Speaking of the Bible, he
said he would ‘‘sooner have a Bible printed and bound in
hell, than one printed and bound North of Mason & Dixon’s
line!”’

Several Knoxville citizens of various religious persu-
asions had for years conducted a union prayer meeting in a
room at the corner of Gay and Main Streets. A modest sign
was displayed which read ‘“Union Prayer-Meeting Room.””
When a band of Southern troops passed through Knoxuville,
they saw the sign and misunderstood it to speak of a prayer
meeting for the Union cause and brought it crashing down
with cursing and denounciations.

In March of 1862, seven thousand Confederate troops
were stationed in Knoxville under the command of Colonel
Raines. Later, General E. Kirby Smith took command.
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The Southern officers found it difficult to keep the
mountain folks in line. Colonel William B. Wood of Knox-
ville wrote to General S. Cooper, Adjutant General on
November 11, 1861, ‘‘the whole country is in a state of
rebellion.”” **. .. | feel it my duty to place this city under
martial law, as there was a large majority of the people
sympathizing with the enemy and communicating with
them . ..”” | need not say that great alarm is felt by the
few Southern men here.” Confederate Secretary of War,
J. P. Benjamin, wrote to Col. Wood concerning measures
to deal with the East Tennesseans arrested as traitors to
the South:

“First, all such as can be identified in having been en-
gaged in bridge-burning are to be tried summarily by
drum-head and court-martial and if found guilty,
executed on the spot by hanging. It will be well to
leave their bodies hanging in the vicinity of the burn-
ed bridges.”’

““Second. All such as have not been so engaged are to
be treated as prisoners of war, and sent with an armed
guard to Tuscaloosa, Alabama, there to be kept im-
prisoned.”’

“...In no case is one of the men known to have been
up in arms against the Government to be released on
any pledge or oath of allegiance.’"’

Not all of the hardships were wrought by the Confed-

erate troops. When the Union forces occupied Knoxville,
Rufus M. Stevens, a retired Methodist preacher, was arrested
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because of his sympathies with the South. For a month, he
was kept in jail in Knoxville. From thence, he was sent to
Cincinnati, being forced to walk most of the way. He died
while imprisoned there?

The devastation of the war to the churches is seen
when we read that following the war ‘‘half the members of
the Methodist churches in Holston Conference were so scat-
tered that they were never returned to the churches. It
took twenty years for the churches to report as many mem-
bers as they had before the war.’’3

The period following the war was equally painful.
Triumphant Northerners felt it their privilege or perhaps
their duty to make it hard on their Southern brothers. This
is well illustrated in the conduct of Dr. T. H. Pearne, whom
the Methodist bishop placed in charge of the Knoxville
district of churches. One of his first actions ‘“was to secure
the keys of the church at Fountain Head (Fountain City)
and to refuse to even allow the Southern Methodist Church
to use the church they had built and used for twenty
years.”’4

Those were dark and difficult days in East Tennessee.
Christians in the region shared the suffering and hardships
with their neighbors. War sentiment divided families and
even churches. Fortunately, our brethren did not divide
over the issues of war and slavery as did most of their
Protestant neighbors. When, however, division did occur,
some 40 years later, the sectional differences magnified by
the war were evident among our brethren.

'The information in this section is gleaned from W. G.
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Brownlow, editor of the Knoxville Whig, Sketches of the
Rise, Progress, and Decline of Secession, Philadelphia,

George W. Childs, 1862.

2 |saac Patton Martin, History of the Fountain City
Methodist Church, Knoxville, The Methodist Historical
Society of Holston Conference, nd, p. 22.

3 Ibid., p. 23.

%Ibid., p. 24.
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THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH IN KNOXVILLE
KNOX COUNTY

When Knoxville was founded in 1792, the two insti-
tutions that grew faster and stronger than any others were
churches and taverns.! It was 82 years later before the first
congregation of the Lord’s Church was planted in the city.

The restoration gospel was first preached in Knoxville
by W. D. Carnes. In 1833 he obeyed the gospel at age 17
in Warren County. As an adult, Carnes supported his family
by operating a grist mill and lumber mill. In addition to
these occupations he preached regularly.

Realizing his need for an education, in 1850 brother
Carnes enrolled at East Tennessee University in Knoxville.
While at the university he preached for rural congregations
in the area. He was frequently invited to ‘‘speak at the
Baptist Church and occasionally at one of the Presbyterian
Churches. On the campus he started a series of prayer
services which ended in a revival campaign,”2 but no per-
manent congregation resulted from Carnes’ work in the city.
He went on to be president of Burritt College at Spencer,
Tennessee; a school operated by Christians.

In 1869-1870 brother Alexander Campbell Bruce
moved to Knoxville from Nashville. His given name indi-
cated his family’s connection with the Restoration Move-
ment. Already living in Knoxville was N. R. Hall, a member
of the church. He had been converted through the
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influence of his Christian wife while living in Kentucky at
an earlier time. George T. Rhoads came to Knoxville
from Virginia and T. P. McDaniel moved up from Georgia.
These five disciples were the only Christians in the city
willing to conduct the Lord’s business from 1869 to 1874.
They met for worship and Bible study in their homes.
On rare occasions they would be privileged to have a preach-
er speak for them. A visit from a brother Berry from North
Carolina is recorded. A brother ‘L. R. Lawson”’ is credited
with being ‘‘most responsible for the Church in Knoxville.”
Likely this is the Dr. L. R. Lawson who helped to found
the Thorn Grove Church in Knox County and preached
for the Liberty Church in Blount County. Lawson at-
tempted to secure the use of an old Methodist Church
building on Church Street prior to 1874 but failed.

In 1874 brother L. H. Stine, a recent graduate of
Bethany College came to Knoxville and guided the little
band of disciples in a formal organization.

An upper room was rented at the corner of Depot
and Broad Streets. On Sunday, September 6, 1874,
eighteen New Testament Christians drew up the following
covenant:

We the members of the Body of Christ living at Knox-
ville, Tennessee, do resolve to organize ourselves into
a congregation to worship God according to the Holy
Scriptures, to be known as the Church of Christ wor-
shipping at Knoxville, Tennessee.

Done the First Lord’s Day of September A. D. 18743

The charter members were Alex C. Bruce, Newton R.
Hall, N. O. Cooley, George T. Rhoades, Lewis Tillman,
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L. H. Stine, A. L. Hall, T. P. McDaniel, H. M. Brother, Sarah
E. Roberts, Levinia J. Robbins, E. Haynes, Sarah A. Rhoad-
es, L. Madden, Mary M. Lebou, Emma Robbins, Philip
Hofft.

The first officers of the young church were A. C.
Bruce, elder and George T. Rhoades and N. R. Hall, dea-
cons? It is interesting that congregations frequently had
only one elder in those early days. They evidently reasoned
that it was better to have one qualified elder to lead them
than none.

We are fortunate to have access to the church records
of the Knoxville Church, kept by Lewis Tillman, one of the
elders, from 1875-1894. From these minutes we can learn
much about the early days of the Lord’s cause in Knoxville.

In 1870 the population of Knox County was 28,990.
Some 8,682 of these lived within the city of Knoxville> The
community was still struggling to recover from the devas-
tating effects of the Civil War. ‘‘Damage done to public
and private property of Knoxville during the war was enor-
mous.’’ 6

The Restoration Movement was making great progress
in other areas of the volunteer state, but not in Knoxville.
In 1870 there were 203 congregations in the state with
19,425 members. One hundred and sixty-three of these
congregations had their own meeting houses. The Lord’s
Church was the fourth largest religious group in the state’

By the time the church began in Knoxville, two con-
gregations in the state had already adopted the use of in-
strumental music in their worship; the church at Linden
and Mulberry Streets in Memphis (1869) and the Second
Christian Church in Nashville (a negro congregation)® Be-
fore the century was gone this question would rend
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churches throughout the state.

L. H. Stine stayed with the church for only one year.
On July 27, 1875, he tendered his resignation? There was
no hint of conflict or problems, but given the ongoing
financial straits of the little church, it was this that most
likely prompted his leaving.

Elder T. B. Scovil of Indiana came for a gospel meet-
ing in April of 1876. Ten converts were added to the
church.'® Elder Jesse L. Sewell of Warren County conduct-
ed a meeting in February of 1878 which resulted in two
additions.

In October of 1878 the brethren were able to pur-
chase a meeting house from the Baptists on McGhee Street
for the price of $1350. A down payment of $250 was made
with the balance to be paid over four years!? The first ser-
vices were conducted at the newly acquired building on the
Lord’s Day, October 21, 1878. ‘‘Rev. Mr. Frazier of the
Southern Methodist Conference gave a sermon to the
church with which all seemed pleased.”13 Here we see the
first of many steps away from the Bible standard to which
the Knoxville brethren had pledged themselves. As the
record unfolds, it is evident that the church never had a
strong doctrinal foundation or men strong in the faith for
elders. It was thus inevitable that an early departure from
the Restoration principle would occur.

On January 5, 1879, brother A. C. Bruce, the
church’s elder, announced his resignation in view of his
moving to another state. The congregation proceeded to
select brother N. R. Hale and brother Lewis Tillman to fill
the elders’ office. Brother J. D. McDaniel was chosen to be
a deacon at the same time.'?

Without the services of a regular preacher, the elders
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led the church in public worship. Additions were made
quite regularly with a large number coming by transfer as
Christians moved to Knoxville from other places.

Brother N. G. Jacks preached his first sermon for the
church on February 18, 1883. At the evening service ‘‘three
mutes from the deaf and dumb asylum in the city made the
good confession and were baptized ... The confession was
taken in the sign language through an interpreter, Mr. T. L.
Moser.” '®> The church record reveals that a large number of
deaf people were added in those early days.

By May 23, 1883, the elders reported that they were
behind on brother Jack’s salary of fifty dollars per month
and urged the flock to increase their giving. |t was agreed to
borrow money to meet the obligation.16

By July 8, 1883, the financial situation of the Knox-
ville Church had reached such a crisis that brother Jacks
submitted his resignation. Again it was a friendly parting
forced by monetary necessity. With sadness the congrega-
tion accepted his departure.17

It is noteworthy that brother Jacks was the first
minister to style himself the “‘pastor’” of the Knoxville
Church. There is no indication in the record of any objec-
tion to his so doing. Such was then being widely accepted
in the city churches. Brother D. S. Burnett of Cincinnati
had been one of the first to promote the idea of the preach-
er being a pastor in a local church®

Again the nagging lack of funds caused the brethren
to postpone seeking a preacher. The elders resumed their
public teaching of the flock with occasional ‘‘protracted
meetings’’ by visiting preachers.19

In April of 1884 the church purchased a lot on Park
Street (now Magnolia Ave.) at the junction of White and
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Gay for $1600. On December 5, 1886, the new building
on Park Street was occupied. Brother T. M. Myers from
Asheville, North Carolina, dedicated the building. Several
denominational ministers were given special invitations to
share the platform at the dedication service. The church
record indicates that ‘’Rev. O. E. Ke